
Jo Miller
Chief Executive
___________________________________________________________________
Issued on: Thursday 21st December, 2017

Governance Services Officer for this meeting: Andrea Hedges
(01302) 736716

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council
www.doncaster.gov.uk

Agenda
____________________________________________________________________

To all Members of the

CABINET
Notice is given that a Meeting of the Cabinet is to be held as follows:

 
Venue:    007a and b - Civic Office Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU

Date:       Tuesday, 9th January, 2018

Time:      10.00 am
___________________________________________________________________

Item for discussion:

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting 

3. Public Questions and Statements 
(A period not exceeding 20 minutes for questions and statements from 
members of the public and Elected Members to the Mayor of Doncaster, 
Ros Jones. Questions/Statements should relate specifically to an item of 
business on the agenda and be limited to a maximum of 100 words. As 
stated within Executive Procedure Rule 3.3 each person will be allowed 
to submit one question/statement per meeting. A question may only be 
asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing or by e-mail to 
the Governance Team no later than 5.00 p.m. on Thursday, 4th January, 
2018. Each question or statement must give the name and address of the 
person submitting it. Questions/Statements should be sent to the 
Governance Team, Floor 2, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU, 
or by email to Democratic.Services@doncaster.gov.uk)

Public Document Pack



4. Declarations of Interest, if any. 

5. Decision Record Forms from the meeting held on 12th December, 2017 for 
noting (previously circulated) 

A.     Reports where the public and press may not be excluded

Key Decisions
6. Doncaster Council Energy Supply Offer - Non-Domestic 1 - 12

7. Shared Service Agreement with Rotherham Metropolitan Borough 
Council to deliver Environmental Crime Enforcement (Appendix 1 to 
the report contains exempt information within paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972, as 
amended). 

13 - 24

8. Get Doncaster Cycling 25 - 42

9. Doncaster Attendance Strategy 43 - 102

Cabinet Members

Cabinet Responsibility For:

Chair – Ros Jones, Mayor of 
Doncaster

Budget and Policy Framework

Vice-Chair – Deputy Mayor 
Councillor Glyn Jones

Adult Social Care and Equalities

Councillor Nigel Ball Portfolio Holder for Public Health, Leisure and 
Culture

Councillor Joe Blackham Portfolio Holder for Highways, Street Scene and 
Trading Services

Councillor Rachael Blake Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care
Councillor Nuala Fennelly Portfolio Holder for Children, Young People and 

Schools
Councillor Chris McGuinness Portfolio Holder for Communities, Voluntary Sector 

and the Environment
Councillor Bill Mordue Portfolio Holder for Business, Skills and Economic 

Development
Councillor Jane Nightingale Portfolio Holder for Customer and Corporate 

Services



www.doncaster.gov.uk

Report
____________________________________________________________________

Date: 9th January 2017
To the Chair and Members of the Cabinet

Doncaster Council Energy Supply Offer – Non-Domestic

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s)

Wards Affected Key Decision

Mayor Ros Jones 
Cllr Joe Blackham

All Yes

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. Since 2010, Ofgem has been developing a major package of regulation to 
make the energy market simpler, clearer and fairer for consumers, including 
non-domestic (business) consumers. 

2. Ofgem’s Retail Market Review (RMR) identified the need to support 
businesses in a number of areas, including: 

a. raising awareness of contract terms
b. improving the experience of switching energy supplier, and
c. improving trust and confidence in suppliers and Third Party 

Intermediaries (TPI’s) such as energy brokers

3. Although Ofgem have since made changes to the standard licence 
conditions to further support small businesses, there is a clear opportunity 
for the Council to help Doncaster businesses secure a better energy deal 
and benefit from the added value that could improve the efficiency of their 
operations. 

4. By making available a local energy supply offer for businesses, intervention 
from the Council could help with preparation for imposing carbon taxes, 
facilitate asset investment in energy efficiency and reduce the cost of 
operations for those delivering services to the general public. 

EXEMPT REPORT

5. n/a 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6.



RECOMMENDATIONS

6. Recommendations for the Mayor and Cabinet to approve are;
a. To allow the Council to undertake an open ‘OJEU compliant’ tender 

process to recruit a suitable ‘non-domestic’ energy supply company 
partner.

b. To delegate the award of the contract to the successful tenderer and 
establish a ‘white label’ partnership agreement for a ‘non-domestic’ 
energy supply to the Director of Regeneration and Environment or 
their duly authorised representative, in consultation with the Portfolio 
holder for Customer, Corporate and Trading Services  and the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services or their duly authorised 
representative  

c. To agree the strategic objectives of the new white label partnership 
for non-domestic customers (see paragraph 31). 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

7. Provision of lower cost energy, made available to all businesses in 
Doncaster, but specifically targeted at those defined as small / micro-
businesses (as defined in paragraph 23). 

8. Financial support, through asset investment, to help businesses reduce 
operational costs. 

9. Businesses are supported and inward investment in Doncaster continues to 
increase. 

BACKGROUND

10. Ofgem’s duty is to protect the interests of all consumers, including 
businesses. Business customers should be able to get the best energy deal 
without unnecessary difficulties. 

11. The non-domestic energy market has different characteristics to the 
domestic market. There are many more suppliers, most contracts are for 
fixed terms, and more customers access the market through TPI’s.

12. A fundamental part of the UK energy market is the ability of a customer to 
switch supplier when they find a better deal. Ofgem have taken a detailed 
look into what is happening in the non-domestic market and have started to 
address certain conditions that could be causing significant consumer harm.

13. One of those conditions was to enforce TPI’s to comply with consumer 
protection laws. For example, a TPI is prohibited by the Business Protection 
from Misleading Marketing Regulations (BPMMRs) from carrying out 
misleading advertising activities and should therefore always identify itself 
and be clear about the purpose of its call. It is understood, with research 
undertaken by Element Energy for Ofgem, that almost two thirds of all non-
domestic consumers reported that a TPI contacted them over a 12 month 
period, with an average of 12 broker contacts during that period. With this 
level of intensive selling technique there is no wonder that around 60 – 70% 
of an energy companies customers are acquired through TPI’s.  

Page 2



14. TPI’s are expected to follow an agreed Code of Practice and there are some 
TPI’s that enable businesses to get a good deal. However, the difference 
between a facilitated energy deal by a TPI and one by the Council is that the 
Council would deliver the energy deal with a lower level of commission. An 
example of how a TPI generates their commission is shown in Figure 1. 

15. Figure 1. 

16. The Council has seen examples of how energy market changes have 
benefitted both consumers and TPI’s, but has heavily favoured the TPI. An 
example of this is shown below.

17. Figure 2. 

18. A partnership between the Council and a ‘preferred’ energy company via a 
‘white label’ arrangement could allow more Doncaster businesses to access 
an energy deal (providing gas and electricity) without incurring excessive 
commission / fees. 

19. Pertinently, a white label provider (the Council) works in partnership with a 
licensed supplier (an energy company) to offer gas and electricity to 
consumers using its own brand. The white label does not have a supply 
licence of its own. 

20. The concept has recently been introduced to the Council through the 
creation of Great North Energy; a white label partnership between 
Doncaster Council and Robin Hood Energy (supplier), a not-for-profit energy 
supplier wholly owned by Nottingham City Council. 

21. Great North Energy is a brand owned and controlled by the Council and 
currently enables domestic customers to buy low cost energy. It is proposed 
that Great North Energy will be extended to include business energy tariffs. 

22. There are over 8,000 businesses registered in Doncaster of which 97% are 
defined as either Micro-businesses or small businesses. 

Page 3



Year Electricity Gas 
01 April 2001 0.430p/kWh 0.150p/kWh
01 April 2007 0.441p/kWh 0.154p/kWh
01 April 2008 0.456 p/kWh 0.159 p/kWh
01 April 2009 0.470 p/kWh 0.164 p/kWh
01 April 2011 0.485 p/kWh 0.169 p/kWh
01 April 2012 0.509 p/kWh 0.177 p/kWh
01 April 2013 0.524 p/kWh 0.182 p/kWh
01 April 2014 0.541 p/kWh 0.188 p/kWh
01 April 2015 0.554 p/kWh 0.193 p/kWh
01 April 2016 0.559 p/kWh 0.195 p/kWh
01 April 2017 0.568 p/kWh 0.198 p/kWh
01 April 2018 0.583 p/kWh 0.203 p/kWh
01 April 2019 0.847 p/kWh 0.339 p/kWh

23. From an energy consumption perspective, a micro-business is defined as;

a. Being an employer of fewer than ten employees (or their full time 
equivalent)

b. has an annual turnover or balance sheet no greater than €2 million
c. uses no more than 100,000 kWh of electricity per year, or
d. uses no more than 293,000 kWh of gas per year.

24. A micro-business is the type of business most sold to by TPI’s and therefore 
the type of business the Council could provide the most support to. 

25. For those micro-businesses using 100,000kWh of electricity, they might be 
paying £0.005p per kWh to a TPI, which is worth £500. If the same business 
used 293,000kWh of gas and paid a TPI £0.005p per kWh, which is worth 
£1,465; the business could get a similar energy deal from the Council, albeit 
with less commission being paid and therefore greater savings for the 
business. 

26. It is important to note the difference between non-domestic (business) 
energy and domestic (household) energy due to the Council having recently 
set up Great North Energy for a domestic energy supply offer. Those 
differences being:

a. Non-domestic energy is charged 20% VAT, whereas domestic 
energy is charged 5%.

b. Non-domestic supplies are subjected to a Climate Change Levy 
(CCL) tax.

c. Non-domestic energy contracts can run from 1 – 4 years, whereas 
domestic contracts are typically 1 year, with a maximum of 2. 

d. Non-domestic energy consumption is monitored differently and has 
an energy meter profile relevant to its level of consumption.

27. CCL came into effect in April 2001 and has risen steadily over the past 15 
years. From 2019 the tax will increase by 45% and 67% for electricity and 
gas respectively.  The rates are shown in the table below:

28. Table 1. 

29. This is an increase that will take a micro-business paying £1,130 CCL in 

Page 4



2016 to £1,840 in 2019 as a result of consuming 100,000kWh’s of electricity 
and 293,000kWh’s of gas.

30. One of the objectives of the Council would be to help businesses prepare for 
increases to CCL. 

31. The strategic objectives of this project would include the following and 
contribute to the Council’s Corporate Plan 2017-18, Doncaster Working:

a. Providing a better energy deal for Doncaster businesses
i. Making sure the energy deal and associated meter is suitable 

for the business consumption levels
ii. Helping businesses source asset finance for energy efficiency 

improvements
iii. Helping business reduce their energy consumption

b. Helping business understand and prepare for the impacts of 
forthcoming energy related legislation 

32. The reasons for the Council entering the energy market is not just built on 
the idea to disrupt the work of TPI’s; there is a strong case to help 
businesses achieve added value from their energy suppliers.

33. The objectives to help businesses fund energy efficiency improvements and 
reduce energy consumption can help provide a more sustainable business 
model and even improve operational efficiency leading to lower prices or 
greater profits. 

34. Such improvements need to be considered sooner than later; with 
government agreed increases for CCL and the price of energy set to rise, a 
proactive approach to reducing consumption will help businesses realise a 
gradual increase they can adapt to, rather than experiencing a sudden 
increase which affects their business. 

35. With options for asset financing and energy saving advice / support being 
provided by the partner energy company, the Council’s role would be that of 
a facilitator. These services would be available as a result of a business 
agreeing a Council energy supply offer, but the partner energy company 
would be responsible for the delivery. 

36. The practical role of the Council would be to undertake the marketing and 
selling of the energy supply offer. Consideration would need to be given to 
selling regulations ie. ‘Before’ and ‘After’ an order is placed. 

37. The methods for marketing an offer to businesses would include ‘face to 
face’, ‘telephone’ and ‘electronic’ communications. 

38. An example of the sales process in Figure 3:

Page 5



Figure 3 – 

39. With most of the sales agreements likely to be dealt with over the phone, for 
which a verbal contract is a binding contract, the telephone calls have to be 
recorded. It is not proposed the Council will undertake sales via telephone 
due the compliance requirements (calls having to be recorded) and so will 
concentrate on face to face sales and directing telephone sales to the 
partner energy supply company. 

40. The responsibility and costs associated with customer services, billing and 
general correspondence would be borne by the partner energy. 

41. With the Great North Energy brand already being established, albeit with a 
domestic focus, there will need to be some minor changes made to 
accommodate the non-domestic offer and messages. These changes will be 
to the website and marketing materials. The changes would be quite subtle, 
for example swapping some of the residential properties with business 
properties on our branded ‘street scene’ and accommodating a ‘quotation’ 
portal for non-domestic customers on the website. The same marketing / 
sales force would be used across domestic and non-domestic sales. 

42. The production of tender documentation for the original white label contract 
was produced with support from an external solicitors. This documentation 
will require minor changes to make it fit for purpose for the recruitment and 
selection of a business energy partner which will be supported by the 
Council’s legal team. 

43. In addition to officer time, the only external costs are expected to be for 
design costs of £2,000, the production of flyers and sales brochures of 
£2,000 and a further £2,000 for digital advertising via social media, of which 
the production of flyers / sales brochures and digital advertising will be the 
only ongoing (annual) external costs. . 

44. With a shared income approach being made available by potential white 
label energy supply companies, the development and delivery of this project 
can be self-financing. An average of £150 is expected to be paid by the 
partner energy supply company to Great North Energy Business for every 
customer it acquires. Fees would be paid annually for every year the 

Page 6



business remains a Great North Energy customer. 

45. It is anticipated that 250 businesses could sign up to Great North Energy 
Business in year 1, giving the Council c. £37,000 and therefore returning its 
investment for year 1. By the end of year 2, it is anticipated Great North 
Energy Business could have 500 customers, giving the Council c. £75,000.

46. The focus of this offer will be to benefit Doncaster businesses; however, as 
with the domestic offer via Great North Energy, there is great scope to 
extend the reach of this service to provide a competitive offering in 
surrounding areas and beyond. The extension of Great North Energy 
outside of Doncaster would be aligned with the Council’s commercial 
objectives could provide greater opportunity for generating more revenue. 

47. It is therefore proposed that Great North Energy Business will define its 
reach outside of Doncaster; for example, the north of England and into the 
Scottish borders, and that other ‘northern’ Council’s will be named in the 
tender documentation, giving them opportunity to support, promote and 
share the benefits of Great North Energy. 

48. A trial is likely to be proposed, which allows both the Council and the energy 
supply company to review the performance of the scheme in terms of 
customers acquired and any agreed KPI’s.

49. The trial period will be year 1 of a 5 year contract that can also be ended 
before the start of year 2 or with an agreed period of notice by either party 
after the start of year 2. 

50. The procurement process for such a partnership would be an open ‘OJEU 
compliant’ tender process that would be evaluated against quality and price 
using criteria such as, including the energy company evidencing, ‘a history 
of competitive pricing’, ‘the ability to support its customers with finance for 
asset investment’, ‘excellent customer service record’ and ‘open book 
pricing’. The tender documentation will define the geographical reach of 
Great North Energy Business and enable other ‘northern’ Council’s to work 
with us to realise the benefits in their own areas. The costs incurred for 
procurement, legal and financial advice will be accommodated within 
existing Energy Team budgets. 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

51. Options include:

a. Do nothing – 
i. The energy market has made small improvements over the 

past few years with clearer pricing, contract terms and 
increased consumer protection, but small businesses will 
continue to pay more for their energy than is necessary due to 
the use of TPI’s. 

ii. Business energy users will continue to miss out on the added 
value energy some energy companies can provide, such as 
energy efficiency advice / audits and asset investment to 
support reductions in energy consumption. 

Page 7



b. Enter into the non-domestic energy market through a white label 
partnership with a licenced energy supply company – 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

52. The recommended option is to partner with a suitable energy supply 
company to achieve the following:

a. Provide a better energy deal to micro / small businesses in Doncaster 
i. Make sure the deal is right for the business’ needs
ii. Increase profits / reduce operational costs for the business 

b. Provide energy saving advice / energy audits to help reduce energy 
consumption

c. Help businesses to finance building / technology based energy 
efficiency improvements 

d. Help prepare businesses for the increase in carbon taxes in 2019 

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

Outcomes Implications 
 All people in Doncaster 

benefit from a thriving and 
resilient economy.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating 
Jobs and Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Be a 
strong voice for our 
veterans

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services  Potentially generating a long 

term revenue stream for the 
Council. 

 People live safe, healthy, 
active and independent 
lives.

 Mayoral Priority: 
Safeguarding our 
Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living

 People in Doncaster 
benefit from a high quality 
built and natural 
environment.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating 
Jobs and Housing

Page 8



 Mayoral Priority: 
Safeguarding our 
Communities 

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living

 All families thrive.

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services

 Council services are 
modern and value for 
money.

 Providing a service that is 
self-financing and supports 
Doncaster’s businesses. 

 Working with our partners 
we will provide strong 
leadership and 
governance.

 Working with independent 
energy suppliers to help 
disrupt the energy market 
and protect businesses from 
inflated energy prices. 

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

The following risks and assumptions have been made:

53. The development of this proposal would only cost the Council in ‘staff time’ 
for the consultation, business case development and procurement.

54. Ongoing costs to the Council would be linked to marketing and promotions 
only. Risk to finance would be low, depending on how much promotional 
activity the Council might consider in addition to the customer facing activity. 
The majority of expenditure, including all development costs to launch the 
partnership could be borne by the partner energy company.

55. In respect of the revenue the Council could receive as part of the tariff 
charging structure, legislative powers exist that allow the Council to embark 
upon this venture. Charging for services is only permitted on a pure cost 
recovery basis, i.e. a surplus that equates to ‘profit’ can’t be generated 
without the formation of a trading company. However, there is the possibility 
that the partnership may start to generate profit for the Council if the 
customer base exceeds a certain threshold. As such, the charging structure 
will be regularly reviewed so that the Council could respond accordingly if 
this situation transpires. In the medium to long-term such a position may 
demonstrate a requirement to move the Council’s ‘energy supply offer’ into a 
company structure with a proper tax regime.   

56. Following on from the above, as a continuation of provisions under the 
General Power of Competence (GPC) – which flows down from the 
‘Localism Act 2011’ – and in line with section 95 of the ‘The Local 
Government Act 2003’, the Council can trade for commercial purposes 
providing there is no statutory duty to provide the services already. 

Page 9



Therefore, if the ‘energy company’ grows much faster than we envisage and 
starts to bring in higher revenues, we may have to change the arrangement 
with the partner to a suitable delivery vehicle, i.e. a ‘tangible’, registered 
company. The overriding rationale behind this requirement is that it ensures 
there is a level playing field between Local Authorities and the private 
sector, by preventing Councils benefiting from their otherwise advantageous 
tax position. The arrangement must therefore be sufficiently flexible and 
future proof to enable it to adapt to a changing landscape.

57. The highest risk for the Council would be reputational. That being consumer 
complaints about billing and the Council may receive the criticism for any 
price increases set by the partner energy company. Although this can be 
mitigated to an extent with agreed KPI’s; customer service and customer 
retention performance would have to be regularly monitored. It is the 
Council’s intention to select an ‘ethical’ energy company partner who, would 
be subjected to the same tax and wholesale increases as others, but is likely 
to impose lower annual increases than other energy companies. 

58. Other white label arrangements being made by Local Authorities have a 
minimum of 3 – 5 year contract. There are of course break clauses included 
in these contracts should one or both partners want to end the project. It is 
anticipated the Council would make similar arrangements. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

59. Section 1 Localism Act 2011 provides the Council with the power to do 
anything that an individual may generally do.

60. Section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides the Council with the 
power to trade for commercial purposes providing there is no statutory duty 
to provide the services already. In the event that the arrangement starts to 
generate a profit for the Council, a trading company must be formed.

61. Under the Gas Act 1986 and the Electricity Act 1989, an organisation 
supplying gas and electricity to any premises is committing an offence 
unless authorised to do so by a supply license.

62. A white label partnership is an organisation that does not hold a supply 
license but instead works with a licensed partner supplier to offer gas and 
electricity using its own brand.

63. The Council previously went out to tender for a white label partnership for 
domestic supply only.  Therefore to create a white label partnership for non-
domestic suppy an additional procurement exercise has to be conducted.  .  

64. The Council will enter into a white label partnership arrangement with a 
provider following an EU compliant tender in accordance with the Public 
Concession Regulations 2016.  The partner supplier will be responsible for 
the supply of gas and electricity to the customers of the white label 
partnership and the partner provider will be obligated to comply with the 
supply license conditions.

65. The white label partnership must comply with Ofgem’s Retail Market Review 
Rules and Standards of Conduct for suppliers in respect of business 

Page 10



consumers.  

66. Legal advice and assistance will be required as the project progresses 
particularly in relation to aspects of the procurement, contractual documents 
and company law.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

67. As stated above the costs of marketing the service are £6k in the first year 
and £4k per annum thereafter.  Assuming 250 businesses are attracted then 
income of around £37k per annum will be generated which is sufficient to 
cover the marketing costs and contribute to the Council’s Commercialisation 
savings target (£100k in 2017/18 with further targets proposed for future 
years).

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

68. No implications. 

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

69. No implications. 

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

70. The energy supply offer will be made available to all businesses in 
Doncaster and the wider area (to be defined). 

71. There are no equality implications associated with this proposal. 

CONSULTATION

72. The following officers, members and external parties have been consulted 
regarding the energy supply offer proposals:

73. Officers:

a. Director Regeneration & Environment – Peter Dale 
b. Head of Commercial Services – Adrian Pickersgill
c. Chief Financial Officer & Assistant Director of Finance – Steve 

Mawson
d. Assistant Director of Assets and Trading Services – Dave Wilkinson 
e. Senior Category Manager – Regeneration & Environment – Scott 

Duffield 
f. Mayors Political Assistant – Chris Stephenson 

Page 11



74. Members:

a. Mayor – Ros Jones 

b. Cllr Joe Blackham – Portfolio Holder: Highways, Street Scene and 
Trading Services

i. The Mayor and member are both supportive of this proposal. 

75.       Partners:

a. Chief Executive of Doncaster Chamber – Daniel Fell 
i. Initial supportive comments with a view to the Council and the 

Chamber discussing how the offer can be developed and 
supported by the Chamber. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

76. n/a 

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Richard J Smith
Energy Manager 
01302 862514
Richardjames.smith@doncaster.gov.uk 

Peter Dale 
 Director Regeneration & Environment 

Jo Miller
Chief Executive 

Page 12

mailto:Richardjames.smith@doncaster.gov.uk


      

Report
____________________________________________________________________

Date: 9th January 2017
To the Chair and Members of the Cabinet

SHARED SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL TO DELIVER ENVIRONMENTAL CRIME 
ENFORCEMENT

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s)

Wards Affected Key Decision

Councillor Chris 
McGuiness

All wards in Rotherham 
and all wards in 
Doncaster

Yes

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The report sets out a proposal to enter into a shared service arrangement 
with Rotherham MBC to the benefit of both Authorities. 

EXEMPT REPORT

2. This report is not exempt however there are a number of financial and 
commercial matters contained within exempt Appendix 1 which are 
commercially sensitive. The appendix is not for publication because it 
contains exempt information protected by paragraph 3 of part 1 of schedule 
12 (a) of the local government act 1972 (as amended) information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information).

.
RECOMMENDATIONS

3. That Cabinet:

 Approve entering into a shared service agreement with Rotherham 
Metropolitan Council to deliver on their behalf an enhanced environmental 
crime and parking enforcement within Rotherham and put in place the 
operational arrangements necessary to efficiently deliver this service.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7.



 Accept the delegation of relevant and appropriate powers contained within 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Traffic Management Act 2004, Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984, Road Traffic Act 1991, Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014, Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 
2005, and Health Act 2006, made by Rotherham MBC on the 11th 
December 2017 in order to deliver the required shared service within 
Rotherham.

 Approve procurement and award of contract for a private contractor to 
deliver on street enforcement in Rotherham as part of this shared service 
and also allow such contract to be used for on street enforcement in 
Doncaster if this delivers additional financial benefit compared to the current 
contract extension with Kingdom Security Ltd.  The contract would be a 3 
year contract with the potential of two 1-year extensions to ensure it delivers 
best value. 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

4. Environmental crime such as littering, dog fouling and fly tipping have 
negative impact on the quality of life and environment for the residents of 
Doncaster and can also damage a vibrant local economy and promotion of 
Doncaster as a destination to visit. Removal and disposal of fly-tipping alone 
costs the council nearly £500,000 per year. Further substantial cost of 
cleaning up after environmental crime is also incurred by street cleansing 
and litter picking. Robust enforcement of environmental crime is an essential 
tool to reduce this type of behaviour, achieve a cleaner environment for all 
residents and business to enjoy and reduce Council clean-up costs. Delivery 
of such enforcement service in a cost neutral way by the use of private 
contractor ensures a high level of enforcement without placing further 
pressure on public resource. Creation of a joint service with Rotherham 
would give further scope to deliver value for money by increasing capacity of 
the team, creating more efficient working processes through economies of 
scales. Increasing the size of the service in Doncaster would also contribute 
to local job opportunities. Environmental Crimes do not differ or stop across 
authority boundaries, but instead travels with nuisance individuals between 
authority areas. As a result, increasing knowledge and providing an effective 
deterrence against these offences amongst members of the public in 
Rotherham is likely to be beneficial for the environment in Doncaster as 
well.  

BACKGROUND

5. In January 2016 Doncaster Council signed a contract with Kingdom Security 
to provide additional environmental enforcement borough wide in Doncaster. 
The contract includes incidents being witnessed within Doncaster’s 
boundary for offences relating to littering, smoking in smokefree 
place/vehicle, fly tipping, enforcement of Public Space Protection 
Orders including dog fouling and Parking Enforcement. The contract is 
for a 2-year fixed period until January 2018 but has the option of two 1-year 
extensions, potentially maintaining the current arrangements until January 
2020. . During the contract extensions it is possible for Doncaster to give 
notice to stop the service without any penalties. The current contract and 
requires Kingdom to provide sufficient staff to issue at least 3500 FPN’s and 
about 1000 PCN’s (mainly outside Town Centre). 

Page 14



6. Doncaster’s contract with Kingdom Security is different from private 
enforcement contract existing in many other Local Authorities, as Doncaster 
has retained the task of evaluating evidence, issuing the fines, hearing 
appeals and taking any case where the FPN is not paid to court. The 
Council also retained the role of tasking Kingdom staff weekly to ensure 
patrols are spread across the borough and target the areas where 
complaints from our residents are received. Kingdom staff has the same 
level of training as any Council staff issuing fines and wear DMBC uniform 
and body cameras. The close working relationship between staff from 
Kingdom Security and the Enforcement Team has delivered a high quality, 
responsive and seamless service with low levels of complaints. This has 
safeguarded the Council’s reputation of fair, proportionate and transparent 
enforcement and avoided negative media stories that have faced some 
other Local Authorities who has not managed their contracts in as stringent 
manner. 

7. Since January 2016 Kingdom staff has patrolled 72 separate areas in the 
Doncaster ensuring whole borough receives area patrols.  Kingdom has 
submitted evidence resulting in Fixed Penalty for all areas.  During this 
period, Kingdom has on behalf of the Council, gathered evidence to enable 
the Council to issue over 13,507 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) in respect to 
littering, 231 for dog fouling, 70 for other PSPO contraventions and 2245 
Penalty Charge Notices for parking offences. The contract has been 
successful in delivering the objectives of increase enforcement resources 
and additional income earmarked to improve investigation and enforcement 
outcomes for complex fly tipping within the Enforcement Team. The 
increased enforcement has also achieved around 20% reduction in 
complaints about littering and dog fouling received by Customer Services. 

Type of complaint 2016 
(Quarter 1 & 2)

2017 
(Quarter 1 & 2)

Reduction

Dog Fouling 457 349 -24%
Request for anti-dog 
fouling stencil

105 82 -22%

Littering 1352 1091 -19%

8. Prior to the Kingdom Contract, Doncaster Council issued approximately 
2000 FPNs a year. Processing of these fines, managing payments, dealing 
with appeals and preparing cases for court was managed by 1FTE Fixed 
Penalty Officer (Grade 7) as well as case preparation by 1 FTE Enforcement 
Officer (Grade 7). As part of the implementation of the Kingdom Security 
contract a complete review was conducted of the FPN processing and 
improvements identified and implemented. This included working with 
Magistrate Courts to implement Single Justice Procedures, substantially 
reducing the legal support required for each case.  As a result the team is 
now able to process around 4000 FPNs per 1.5 FTE (Grade 7).  Further 
resources are required to provide effective management and support for 
these staff members as well as dealing with Corporate Complaints and 
Freedom of Information requests. 

9. On 12th September 2016, the Rotherham MBC Cabinet and Commissioners 
Decision Making Meeting approved a report detailing future options for 

Page 15



enhanced environmental enforcement. The report described the Council’s 
desire to strengthen enforcement activity around environmental crime issues 
such as littering, dog fouling and fly-tipping. Removal and disposal of fly-
tipping alone costs Rotherham MBC in excess of £250,000 per year.  

10. In October 2016, Doncaster Council was requested by Rotherham MBC to 
consider the option of delivery of a shared fixed penalty notice service, using 
a private contractor for the on street enforcement with processing in-house 
following the same principles as the contract already successfully 
implemented in Doncaster. 

11. Following this, at the Rotherham MBC Cabinet and Commissioners’ 
Decision Making Meeting of 9th January 2017, it was agreed that a shared 
service with Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council was to be progressed, 
to deliver enhanced environmental crime and parking enforcement within 
Rotherham.

12. To create a shared FPN service under Rotherham MBC’s constitution, they 
must formally delegate appropriate powers to Doncaster Council to allow 
officers to undertake enforcement activities across boundaries into 
Rotherham. This will ensure that officers have authorisation to enforce 
legislation in Rotherham. Doncaster Council would then need to formally 
accept these delegated powers to progress the arrangements. A further 
Service Level Agreement will also be required to detail the operational 
arrangements and payment mechanism between the two authorities. If a 
shared service is implemented it is expected that contractors issue at least 
8,000 fixed penalty notices on behalf of Rotherham a year to be processed 
by staff employed by Doncaster Council. To effectively process this many 
fines would require an additional staff resource of 3 FTE (Grade 7). These 
staff will be recruited on a 3-years temporary basis for the specific purpose 
of delivering the Rotherham contract. At the end of the 3 years what 
happens to these staff would be dependent upon what happens to the 
contract meaning there is the potential if the service ceases that the Council 
could be liable to make redundancy payments. Due to contract limitations, it 
is not possible to utilise the current contract in place between Doncaster 
Council and Kingdom Security to deliver enforcement in Rotherham. Instead 
a new specification and contract documentation has been developed jointly 
with Rotherham to comply with the requirements of European Procurement 
Regulations. It is expected that the tendering process would be started at 
the earliest in February 2018, with anticipated completion and award of 
contract in May or June 2018. At this point Doncaster could either opt to 
manage two contracts, one in Doncaster for another 18-months and one in 
Rotherham. Alternatively Doncaster could serve notice to terminate the 
current contract for FPN/PCN enforcement and transfer the full service to 
the new contract if this is a better option financially. 

13. A further decision is expected at the Rotherham MBC Cabinet and 
Commissioners’ Decision Making Meeting on the 11th December 2017 to 
further progress the ‘Time for Action’ initiative through engagement into a 
shared service provision with Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council. This 
would include delegating all relevant and appropriate powers contained 
within the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Traffic Management Act 2004, 
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, Road Traffic Act 1991, Anti-Social 

Page 16



Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act 2005, and Health Act 2006, in order to deliver the required 
shared service within Rotherham.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The recommended option is in paragraph 16. 

14. Do Nothing – if the Council does nothing we can continue our current 
contract arrangements with Kingdom Security for a further 12-month on a 
contract extension at which point full procurement would be required if we 
wanted to continue using a private contractor.  

15. Other option considered was to procure a new service for both Doncaster 
and Rotherham allowing the contractor to also process FPNs and prepare 
case files. This would reduce income for Doncaster Council as we are likely 
to have to pay the contractor more per FPN issued. This would also remove 
a safeguard of Doncaster Council having full discretion when to issue FPNs 
or not. If FPNs would be issued by a contractor in cases where evidence is 
not sufficient, it would damage the reputation and public perception of the 
Council. It is important that litter enforcement is conducted in a fair and 
transparent manner with the overall aim of improving the local environment 
and not just seen as a method of income generation. Rotherham MBC also 
favours working with Doncaster Council due to the extra safeguards of fair 
enforcement created by the Council retaining the processing side of the FPN 
service. 

16. To enter in to a shared service agreement with Rotherham Metropolitan 
Council to deliver on Rotherham’s behalf, enhanced environmental crime 
and parking enforcement within Rotherham. This would require Doncaster 
Council to accept the delegation of relevant and appropriate powers 
contained within the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Traffic 
Management Act 2004, Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, Road Traffic Act 
1991, Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Clean 
Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005, and Health Act 2006, from 
Rotherham MBC in order to deliver the required shared service within 
Rotherham. It would also require us to go out for procurement for a private 
contractor to deliver on street enforcement in Rotherham as part of this 
shared service. To ensure the new contract is as commercially competitive 
as possible, it is proposed that it would last for 3 years with the option of two 
1-year extensions and cover on street enforcement in both Doncaster and 
Rotherham or either locality on its own. This would also prevent the need of 
further procurement in the next 12-month when the current Doncaster 
Kingdom Contract expires. Doncaster could opt to move over their current 
enforcement to the new shared service contract at any time before expiry of 
the current contract extension if this is financially beneficial. This will require 
a negotiated extension to the current DMBC Kingdom contract as a shorter 
extension will be required than the 12 months allowed for in the contract.

Page 17



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

17. The option of a shared enforcement service (Paragraph16) would safeguard 
continuation of cost neutral, high quality environmental and ASB 
enforcement service in Doncaster and deliver equal benefits in Rotherham. 
Creation of a joint service with Rotherham would give further scope deliver 
value for money by increasing capacity of the team and creating more 
efficient working processes through economies of scales. Increasing the 
size of the service in Doncaster would also contribute to local job 
opportunities. Increasing knowledge and providing an effective deterrence 
against these offences amongst members of the public in Rotherham is also 
likely to be beneficial for the environment in Doncaster as many people 
actively travel across the two authority area. 

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

18.
Outcomes Implications 
All people in Doncaster benefit 
from a thriving and resilient 
economy.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 
voice for our veterans

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services

Environmental crime such as littering, 
dog fouling and fly tipping have 
negative impact on a vibrant local 
economy and promotion of Doncaster 
as a destination to visit. This proposal 
would safeguard delivery of an 
effective environmental crime 
enforcement service in Doncaster and 
Rotherham without placing the 
financial burden of funding such 
service on either Authority. The 
proposal would also safeguard current 
jobs in Doncaster processing Fixed 
Penalty Notices and generate further 
job opportunities in this area. 

People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives.

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living

The proposal would safeguard high 
levels of enforcement for 
Environmental Crime, Public Space 
Protection Orders. This will assist in 
providing safe and healthy lives for our 
residents. Additional provision of 
parking enforcement outside schools 
and other areas away from Town 
Centre ensures safety of residents and 
protect independent lives of residents 
reliant on disabled parking by securing 
effective blue badge parking 
enforcement. 

People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment.

Environmental crime has negative 
impact on the quality of life and 
environment for our residents. 

Page 18



 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities 

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living

Removal and disposal of fly-tipping 
alone costs the council nearly 
£500,000 per year. Further substantial 
cost of cleaning up after environmental 
crime is also incurred by street 
cleansing and litter picking. Robust 
enforcement of environmental crime is 
an essential tool to reduce this type of 
behaviour, achieve a cleaner 
environment for all residents and to 
enjoy and reduce council clean-up 
costs. Delivery of such enforcement 
service in a cost neutral way by the 
use of private contractor ensures a 
high level of enforcement without 
placing further pressure on public 
resource.

All families thrive.

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services

The proposals include safeguard for 
young people to ensure we can deliver 
effective enforcement whilst still 
supporting families. 

Council services are modern and 
value for money.

Delivery of cost neutral Environmental 
Crime enforcement service ensures 
value for money.  

Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

Working in partnership with another 
local authority through a shared 
service will promote closer working 
and sharing of excellence in the 
Regulation & Enforcement Area which 
is likely to deliver long term benefits. 

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

19. The shared service model is based on Doncaster managing and paying the 
private contractor for each correctly issued FPN/PCN. It is therefore 
essential to ensure Doncaster can recover more money through paid FPNs 
and court fines, than is paid to the contractor and also fund the resources 
required to manage this process. Based on current figures for the Doncaster 
contract it is believed that approximately 60% of fines are likely to be paid 
without further intervention. A further 25% is likely to result in the court 
action and it is expected that around 15% of cases has to be closed down 
as unrecoverable due to inability to trace the individual. As a low payment 
rates is the largest risk factor from a financial side, it is proposed to pay 
Rotherham a set price per paid FPN which will be determined based on the 
results of tender. This is similar to options offered by other private 
contractors in the market place and will ensure the risk of low payment rates 
is not carried by Doncaster Council.

20. When setting up any shared services, there will always be a risk of service 
pressure from one area having an impact on resources available in the 
other area. To ensure that entering into the shared service has a positive 
impact on services in Doncaster, it is essential that sufficient additional staff 
resources are made available.  

Page 19



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

21. Rotherham Council have agreed to delegate certain enforcement functions 
to Doncaster Council, namely those functions set out in the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, Traffic Management Act 2004, Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984, Road Traffic Act 1991, Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014, Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 and Health Act 
2006. Rotherham Council are able to do this in accordance with the 
provisions of the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of 
Functions) (England) Regulations 2012, which enable arrangements to be 
made for the discharge of functions by another local authority.  

22. Doncaster Council’s Constitution allows Cabinet to accept the delegation of 
Executive Functions from another Local Authority.

23.  The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and European case law suggest that 
such arrangements between public bodies for the sharing of functions which 
are not wholly commercial in nature are not caught by EU Procurement 
Regulations. Doncaster Council will in any event be following a full EU 
Procurement process to appoint a contractor to provide the services and 
thus the guiding principles of EU Procurement – openness, fairness and 
transparency will be met.

24. S1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the Council with the general power of 
competence, meaning that “a local authority has power to do anything that 
individuals generally may do.”

25. S111 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that a local authority shall 
have power to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or 
incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions

26. S112 of the Local Government Act 1972, allows a Local Authority to appoint 
such officers as they think necessary for the proper discharge of their 
functions.

27. Further legal advice will be required as this project progresses, particularly 
considering Employment Law matters arising and in completing an 
appropriate agreement between the two Councils covering this 
arrangement.

28. As set out in the report, a European tender process will be required to 
appoint a provider to carry out this work in Doncaster and Rotherham. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

29. It is not possible to provide detailed costs for this proposal until the 
procurement exercise, which is proposed has been completed. However, 
apart from initial set up costs, the operating costs to Doncaster Council for 
processing fines and managing appeals is on average £11 per FPN. This 
takes into consideration all processing costs including a proportion of cases 
requiring legal files. If the tender delivers a similar priced service to what we 
currently operate, Doncaster would pay the contractor £40 per correctly 
issued FPN. 

Page 20



30. The additional income generated to Doncaster Council through this scheme 
is expected to be £40k per annum. This will contribute towards the 
Regulation and Enforcement efficiency savings which for 18/19 has a target 
saving of £200k. Further commercially sensitive information regarding the 
performance of the current contract can be found in Appendix 1. 

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

31. If this proposal is implemented it is expected that Contractors issue at least 
8,000 Fixed Penalty Notices in the first 12-month. To effectively process this 
many fines would require 3 FTE (Grade 7). As this Grade 7 role already 
exists it has already been through Job Evaluation, checks will need to be 
undertaken as to whether the additional posts have an effect on the Job 
Evaluation score of any other existing posts. The additional posts would 
need to be approved and set up on the HR portal and then recruited to in 
line with Doncaster Council’s Policies and Procedures.  Redundancy and 
associated payments are subject to statutory provisions.  Further advice will 
need to be taken in the event this becomes relevant.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

32. There are no direct ICT implications from implementing the 
recommendations in this report as processing will be carried out using the 
same software as the existing service. Procurement of a new software 
contract for all Parking Fines and Fixed Penalty Notices was approved by 
the ICT Governance Board in June 2017 and are expected to be in place 
prior to implementation of any shared service proposal. This contract will be 
able to adequately cater for any fines issued on behalf or Rotherham 
without additional cost. 

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

33. The decision maker must be aware of their obligations under the public sector 
equality duty (PSED) in s149 of the Equality Act 2010. It requires public 
authorities when exercising their functions to have due regard to the need to 
 eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimization; advance equality of 
opportunity; and foster good relations between people who share relevant 
protected characteristics and those who do not. 

34. The relevant protected characteristics under the Equality Act are age, 
disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation. The duty also covers marriage and civil 
partnerships, but only in respect of eliminating unlawful discrimination. 

35.    The decision maker must ensure that they have seen the due regard 
statement. The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour, and with an 
open mind and is not a question of ticking boxes. It is for the decision-maker 
to decide how much weight should be given to the various factors informing 
the decision, including how much weight should be given to the PSED itself. 
The duty is a continuing one and there should be a record/audit trail of how 
due regard has been shown. It is not sufficient for due regard to be a “rear-
guard action” following a concluded decision The decision maker must also 
pay regard to any countervailing factors and decide the weight to be given to 

Page 21



these, which it is proper and reasonable to consider; budgetary pressures, 
economics and practical factors will often be important. 

36. National guidance exists for offences committed under the relevant 
legislation. The guidance provides effective safeguards to ensure disabilities 
are considered in any enforcement decisions. In addition absolute legal 
exclusion exists where appropriate, such as for registered blind individuals. 

37.    Safeguarding children and young people is of the outmost priority for 
Doncaster Council. Whilst it is important to challenge unlawful behaviours 
such as environmental crime and Anti-Social Behaviours committed by 
minors, officers are trained and instructed to follow different procedures when 
gathering evidence in these cases. Provisions are also in place to ensure we 
notify parents/guardians as part of any enforcement against a minor. It is also 
our intention to work with Rotherham to put in place an option for parents to 
consent to their child taking part in restorative justice, in lieu of paying a 
monetary fine, similar to what currently is in place in Doncaster. 

38. Apart from consideration of disability and children under the age of 18, 
enforcement of the relevant legislation is carried fair, transparent and 
proportionate irrespective of any other protective characteristics. All 
designated officers with the responsibility to enforce the prohibitions and 
requirements within the order are trained in equality and diversity from 
induction and this is updated on a regular, if not annual basis. 

CONSULTATION

39. Consultation has taken place with Portfolio Holder Cllr Chris McGuiness and 
Mayor’s Political Assistant, Chris Stephenson. Consultation has also taken 
place throughout the process with legal, procurement and ICT to ensure we 
consider any relevant duties or legal requirement. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

40. No relevant background papers. 

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Tracey Harwood
Head of Service Regulation and Enforcement
Tracey.harwood@doncaster.gov.uk
01302 862485

Carolina Borgstrom
Enforcement Manager
Carolina.borgstrom@doncaster.gov.uk
01302 737553

PETER DALE
DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT

Page 22

mailto:Tracey.harwood@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:Carolina.borgstrom@doncaster.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 23

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Report 

___________________________________________________________________________

9 January 2018

To the Mayor and Members of CABINET

Get Doncaster Cycling

Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s)

Wards Affected Key Decision

Cllr Nigel Ball
Cllr Bill Mordue

All Yes

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. This report provides an overview and  background for current and forthcoming 
activity to develop a coordinated approach to increase cycling activity across 
Doncaster through Get Doncaster Cycling and its associated programmes
                                 

2. The report outlines recent and proposed cycling related activity that is 
supported through current available funding aimed predominantly at transport 
outcomes.  The recent investment has seen increased cycling activity and has 
resulted in improved performance indicators. However the size of the issues 
relating to inactiveness and public health will require a step change in 
approach and cycling has the potential to play a key role to meet our new 
ambitions. The long term agenda is to make Doncaster an exemplar authority 
for cycling tackling our communities’ inactiveness, promoting sustainable 
travel and active leisure and demonstrating a positive image of the borough 
as a great place to live. 

3. To achieve this we aim to build on the good work and continue to attract world 
standard cycling events, build the cycle circuit and deliver gold standard 
commuter and leisure routes from all the outlying communities to the centre 
and growth hubs.  This will require an having a determined approach to seek 
opportunities and funding to deliver on the ambitious longer term objectives

Page 25

Agenda Item 8.



EXEMPT REPORT

4. No

RECOMMENDATIONS

5. Recommendations are:

 To recognise the important role cycling can play in tackling public health 
and activeness in our communities 

 To agree outline key theme programmes of activity  for  formal sign off to 
be approved as  required by Portfolio holder unless further cabinet 
approval is obligated 

  To approve the outline delivery budgets for these events and programmes 
and delegate the agreement of the actual budget and the delivery of the 
events and programmes to either the Director of Public Health or the 
Director of Regeneration and Environment (as appropriate) in consultation 
with the portfolio holder for  Public Health, Leisure &Culture and  Highway, 
Street Scene, Trading Services (as appropriate) and chief finance officer    

 To note the establishment of internal project board and subgroups

 To investigation and implementation for a city style bike hire scheme for 
Doncaster through a concession agreement  entered into with Nextbike to 
provide a cycle hire scheme 

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

6. In Doncaster there are some of the lowest physical activity levels in the 
country, with almost a third of adults doing less than 30 minutes of physical 
activity a week. To address this, a review of physical activity and sport in 
Doncaster has been produced and a new physical activity and sport 
strategy. 

             This has identified cycling as part of the active travel agenda as a key 
means to engage our population becoming more physically active, which will 
result in better health and wellbeing outcomes enabling a greater proportion 
of them to play a greater part in Doncaster growth and at the same time 
reducing the cost of inactivity to public services.

BACKGROUND

7.        Doncaster has existing good levels of cycling engagement as outlined below                                   
monitored through our annual counts of all vehicles, including cycles, entering  
Doncaster in March each year. The overall trend since the turn of the century 
shows an annual increase in cycle usage. Cycle usage (as measured through 

Page 26



annual cordon counts) declined during the 1990’s but since the turn of the 
century has grown on average at 2-3% per year or 57% between 2002 and 
2012. 

 

Through Sport England Active Peoples Survey it has been identified that there is 
an above-average percentage of Doncaster resident’s that cycle at least once 
per week; at 15.4%, this is the highest of our comparator group of similar local 
authorities.

Page 27



Doncaster has an adopted Cycle Strategy, that was presented to Cabinet in 
December 2013. This document went through consultation with the public and 
stakeholders. In addition we have over the past 2 years delivered a number of 
programmes which have been successful in engaging our population to cycle 
more frequently. Including:

Dr Bike Over 120 sessions at a variety of businesses and 
organisations across Doncaster, with 1815 bikes 
serviced. 

Adult & Family Cycle 
Training 

Held over 252 sessions at across three sites in 
the Borough, delivering group and one-to-one 
training with 437 attendances. 

Bikeability 1,135 participants received Bikeability training in 
schools across 15/16 and 16/17 academic years. 

Club Doncaster Engaged over 450 young people, loaned 191 
bicycles and trained 101 participants. 

DCLT Cycling Hub Delivered 15 programmes a year to hard to 
reach groups in Doncaster, with 5,342 cycle 
training attendances. 

Active Travel in 
Schools 

Worked with 34 schools to deliver 380 activities 
with 26,221 attendances from children, families & 
teaching staff. 

Tour De Yorkshire In 2016 Doncaster hosted a stage finish of both 
the men's and women's races. The event 
attracted an estimated 50,000 people across the 
route. 

Town Centre Cycle 
Festival 

Doncaster’s cycle festival has grown over the 
past 3 years cementing itself as one of the 
premier community event in Yorkshire. Attracting 
3,000+ spectators and 400 rider at each event 

Schools Yorkshire 
Tour 

245 mile cycling baton schools cycling relay 
starting Sheffield and finishing in Leeds. 7 
schools from Doncaster took part. 

Trans Pennine Trail 
Celebration Event 

Family cycling and walking event along TPT in 
Doncaster. Aim increase awareness of the TPT, 
and increase TPT use by cyclist and walkers for 
recreation and for active travel. 

Page 28



The Big Pedal 27 Schools in Doncaster signed to The Big Pedal 
2017, with a recorded 18,600 journeys made by 
bike and scooter in Doncaster during the event. 

However, although we are in a strong position to grow cycling across the 
Borough, there are a number of barriers preventing more regular take up. 
DMBC services and partners within the borough and external are coming 
together to develop a package of activity and programmes which will 
collectively work to increase levels of cycling across our population. These are 
outlined in the longer term outcomes which will require increase investment 
and therefore external sources will be a priority to develop the outcomes into 
a delivery programme.

Key programmes will deliver the following 3 main categories:

Infrastructure and resources.

2015-2017 has seen a high level of investment on Cycling in the Borough. We 
have improved key sections of commuter routes and invested in bringing over 
7km of off road cycle ways up to a rideable standard. We have installed two 
new toucan crossing at key junction around the town centre, to improve 
accessibility and safety for cyclists.
By the end the this financial year there will be;

 Improvements to route from Train Station to Civic Square
 Programme of renewal of Advanced Stop Lines and Cycle Lanes on-road
 Improving accessibility by cycle to iPort

Closed Road Circuit

Doncaster has committed to developing a 1km Closed road cycle circuit 
located at the Dome leisure complex. This development will provide a purpose 
built facility allowing the public to learn and develop their cycling skills. In 
addition the facility will provide a training and competitive venue for local clubs 
and groups. Funding is being sourced through a number of channels.

The Council are working closely with key stakeholders to deliver an aspiration 
for a hub and spoke cycle route for Doncaster, which would be focused on 
improving town centre connectivity and improving cycling accessibility through 
key commuter corridors. There is desire to implement this approach but it is 
currently restricted due to funding constraints. 

Delivery will continue on the established programmes listed in tables 1 
and 2. It is proposed a strategy will be developed to identify the 
resource requirement to implement the longer term outcomes of cycling 
to the Borough;

Page 29



Longer Term Outcomes

 Improved cycling infrastructure 
 Increased cycling levels of Doncaster residents
 Increased physical activity levels and reduction in sedentary behaviour
 Reduced car journeys
 Improved air quality
 Improved community engagement
 Reduced social isolation.
 Resetting Doncaster place marketing.

          Once this activity has been undertaken it will be presented for consideration, it 
needs to be understood that achieving the longer term outcomes needs a step 
change in cycling in the Borough and will require significant resource. 

Events and promotion

Tour De Yorkshire & UCI World Championships 

Residents will remember the experience of the Tour de Yorkshire in 2016. 
Members highlighted the positive impact a major cycling event like this can 
have for our residents, communities and businesses as well as providing a 
great opportunity for community engagement and showing off Doncaster. It 
was estimated that the route across Doncaster was supported by 50,000 
people cheering on the riders. Our communities engaged fully with the event 
building on the race by organising community events and galas across all our 
villages and towns along the route into Doncaster.    

Welcome to Yorkshire research highlighted that the event attracted a number 
of benefits: 

Total spend in the region was £60m

• 2.2m spectators viewed the race in 2017

• Media broadcast to 180 global territories with a reach of 549 million

• 11.4 million People watched the race on television in the UK alone

• 296 million people read print and copy regarding the Tour de     
Yorkshire

• Twitter engagement was 110.3 million

• People from 158 different countries visited the website 

Page 30



Through Doncaster Council’s new cycling partnership with Welcome to 
Yorkshire, Doncaster has been selected to host a stage finish on the 3rd May 
of the 2018 Tour de Yorkshire. Doncaster was also selected to host a stage 
start of the UCI Road World Racing Championships in September of 2019. 
This is a major international cycling event second only to the Tour de France.

As part of this report we ask that there is consideration undertaken for 
resourcing the events.

The 2016 Doncaster stage finish of the Tour de Yorkshire cost £105k to 
directly deliver the event. However, it is expected from the lessons learnt and 
reusing equipment, this cost can be reduced. A ‘start’ could cost £50k and a 
‘finish’ £75k to deliver with the reduction in costs for a start due to the 
relatively smaller infrastructure requirement.  

Detail on the requirements for the UCI World Championships is awaited but 
there is a financial commitment from UK Sport, and DCMS to organise and 
operate the world championships. However, there is an expectation that host 
locations will provide in kind officer support and financial resource for activities 
they wish to host which are outside of the remit of the championships. This 
will be carefully monitored by the project board.

It is advised that a working budget of £275k is established to deliver the 
events with a notional break down of:

• £100k ASO Tour de Yorkshire host fee 

• £75K 2018 Tour de Yorkshire host delivery

• £100k 2019 UCI worlds host delivery

            It is advised that there is ability to flex within the budget profile to maximise 
resources particularly as there are no indications yet of costs for UCI world 
championships.
Welcome to Yorkshire Partnership

Doncaster is developing its place marketing offer of which cycling is a key 
element both as a means of developing tourism business and as well as 
improving the health of our population through engaging in a physical active 
past time.

The partnership with welcome to Yorkshire delivered through agreed contract 
will enable Doncaster  to maximise opportunities to increase numbers of 
people cycling as well as engaging with wider audience outside the region to 
promote Doncaster assets as a tourism destination. 

We will access both print and social media channels managed by welcome to 
Yorkshire enabling Doncaster to promote tourism and cycling opportunities 
across the borough and accessing national and international audience.

Page 31



We will be able to take part in WTY promotional events including great 
Yorkshire show, Y18 and trade specific shows. 

In addition the partnership will enable Doncaster to play a full role in future 
large scale events organised by Welcome to Yorkshire. Including having 
opportunity to host Tour De Yorkshire starts and finishes should we wish and 
a stage start of the UCI road world championships

Cycle Festival

Doncaster Cycle Festival is now in its 5th year having been developed as a 
legacy of Hosting the Grand de Part of the Tour de France in 2014.

The event attracts riders form across the country from the age of 5 through to 
elite professional and Olympic riders. Over 400 riders take part in the 8 races 
with 3000 Spector’s watching the day’s events.

The festival is now cemented as a feature of the race calendar and one of the 
few national events where young riders can race on the same circuit as 
professionals at the same event. Although supported by DMBC the event is 
managed by community cycle groups and funded through sponsorship.

Other elements of the cycle festival also include a hill climb at Cusworth Hall, 
Danum trophy held in spring on a circuit around High Melton, Cadeby and 
Sprotbrough as well as community rides such as the Trans Pennine Trail 
community event,

Training and engagement

Adult and Family cycle training is currently provided at 3 locations across the 
Borough;
 Woodfield Park
 Sandall Park
 Cusworth Hall

This is funded until March 2020, through the Sustainable Transport Access 
Fund. Between 2015 and September 2017 over 252 sessions have been held 
with 437 attendances. Locations will be reviewed to enable wider engagement 
as the programme progresses

Bikeability is the national standard cycle training programme, with three levels 
of training each designed to improve practical cycling skills and understanding 
of how to cycle on public roads. Levels 1, 2 and 3 take trainees from the 
basics of balance and control, up to journey planning and independent travel 
on busy roads.
The Council delivers combined Level 1 and 2 courses in schools to pupils in 
years 5 and 6 using specific grant funding provided by the Department for 
Transport. The training is delivered by a Bikeability approved specialist third 
part contractor, with the current contract being delivered by Doncaster Culture 
and Leisure Trust over a three year period to March 2020, at a total contract 

Page 32



value of £62,000. This will result in the delivery of over 1,600 training places 
over the course of the contract. The Love to Ride Cycle September event is a 
national competition which was supported in Doncaster to promote cycling to 
work. 21 organisations from across the Borough took part, with 147 
participants. 

Cycling is promoted both on social media and on the Doncaster Website. 
The @CycleinDN Doncaster Cycleboost twitter page, which tweets daily to 
promote cycling and local opportunities, currently has 538 followers. The web 
page which provides information on cycling has had over 6,361 page views 
since 2015 with an average of 6 minutes spent on the page. 

Between 2015 -2017 we have engaged and involved over 36,000 Doncaster 
residents in various schemes aimed at promoting and faciliting an increase in 
cycling across the Borough. 

As part of the Doncaster Active Travel Alliance a Cycle Stakeholder Forum 
has been formed. An early output of this group of interested individuals is 
them volunteering to undertake maintenance on key off road cycle paths in 
the Borough. 

Nextbike
DMBC have been approached by Nextbike, a European leader of bike share
services.  Nextbike have installed and manage systems in over 120 cities 
around the world (http://www.nextbike.co.uk/en/). They are currently operating 
schemes in UK Cities such as Glasgow and Bristol. 

        
Through Nextbike European expansion strategy they wish to implement a 
network of bikes and stations across the borough through their private 
investment. Therefore removing all capital outlay, any on-going costs and 
subsides while at the same time providing an additional integrated transport 
system for the town centre and the wider Borough. There would be a cost to 
residents to hire the bikes. Nextbike would require exclusivity i.e. being the 
only company able to hire bikes in Doncaster for a period of 5 years.

Therefore we are seeking approval to procure nextbike for Doncaster,  a 
service that will be at no cost to the Council. This will ensure we enter in to an 
agreement with a provider that offer the best deal for the Council and the 
Borough’s residents. This is an opportunity not normaly presented to 
Doncaster which is an area which does not meet the traditional demographic 
for this style of service. 

Other service providers have shown little appetite for Doncaster as it is very 
unlikely that the revenue income will cover the capital and revenue costs. The 
agreement is for 5 years and will be reviewed at the end of the term.

Page 33

http://www.nextbike.co.uk/en/


Financial resources 
Programme of Investment 2017/18

Table 1

Activity Funding stream Amount 

Town Centre Cycling 
Infrastructure 
improvements

Sustainable Transport 
Exemplar Programme 
(SCR) External 

£650k

Transpenine Trail 
Resurfacing works 

Sustainable Transport 
Exemplar Programme 
(SCR) External

190k

Dr Bike mobile mechanic 
at workplaces and events 
across

Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External 

£16k

Adult and Family  cycle 
training

Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External

£15k

Cycle Hubs Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External

£110k

Bikeability, training 
children cycle proficiency 
skills

Department for Transport £21k 

Active Travel Officers in 
School Projects 

Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External

£50k

Improving Cycle Parking 
infrastructure at 
businesses and work 
places  

Integrated Transport 
Block 

£20k 

WtY partnership DMBC General Reserves £75k

Closed road cycle circuit MRP Revenue 
Contribution 

£40k

Total £1.187m 

Page 34



Programme of Investment 2018/19

Table 2

Activity Funding stream Amount 

Cycling Infrastructure 
improvements 

Integrated Transport 
Block 

£180k*

Improving Cycle Parking 
infrastructure at 
businesses and work 
places  

Integrated Transport 
Block

£20k *

WtY partnership £75k

Dr Bike mobile mechanic 
at workplaces and events 
across

Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External 

£16k

Adult and Family  cycle 
training

Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External

£15k

Cycle Hubs Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External

£110k

Tour de Yorkshire DMBC General reserves £175k

Bikeability, training 
children cycle proficiency 
skills

Department for Transport £21k 

Active Travel Officers in 
School Projects 

Sustainable Transport 
Access Fund External

£50k

Closed road cycle circuit MRP Revenue 
Contribution and British 
Cycling Grant (TBC) 

£1,060k

UCI road world race 
championships

DMBC General reserves £75k

Total £1.797m

Page 35



*provisional allocation not yet confirmed. 

Activity Amount 

Improved cycling infrastructure 

Increased cycling levels of Doncaster 
residents

Increased physical activity levels and 
reduction in sedentary behaviour

Reduced car journeys

Improved air quality

Improved community engagement

Reduced social isolation.

Resetting Doncaster place marketing.

£10m to £20m

Revenue activities delivered through the Sustainable Transport Access Fund 
will be delivery until March 2020. It is anticipated Doncaster will continue to 
receive capital funding from the Department for Transport for the Integrated 
Transport Block, at this stage the programme for activities for this have not yet 
been developed. Relevant funding opportunities both on a national and 
regional level will be pursued as and when they arise.  

Once resources have been identified this detail will be brought back to cabinet 
for future consideration and decision 

We will pay particular attention in ensuring 106 monies support our aspiration 
to grow and develop cycling across the borough through meeting our strategic 
needs.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8. Do something (recommended)

 To recognise the important role cycling can play in tackling public 
health and activeness in our communities 

Page 36



 to agree outline key theme programmes of activity  for  formal sign off 
to be approved as  required by portfolio holder unless further cabinet 
approval is obligated 

 To approve the outline delivery budgets for these events and 
programmes and delegate the agreement of the actual budget and the 
delivery of the events and programmes to either the Director of Public 
Health or the Director of Regeneration and Environment (as 
appropriate) in consultation with the portfolio holder for [Public Health, 
Leisure & Culture and [ Highways, Street Scene, Trading Services] (as 
appropriate) and chief finance officer    

 To note the establishment of internal project board and subgroups

 To investigation and implementation for a city style bike hire scheme 
for Doncaster through a concession agreement entered into with 
Nextbike at no cost to DMBC or wider partners to provide a cycle hire 
scheme 

• To agree extent of programmes with formal sign off being approved as 
and when necessary by Portfolio holder unless DMBC regulations state 
otherwise

• Approve the outline delivery budgets for these events and programmes 
and delegation to appropriate directors and officers 

• Note the establishment of the project board and subgroups

Do nothing 

This option would reduce the impact of the cycling programme and limit 
progress that has already been made 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

9. To undertake the recommended option will enable Doncaster to continue 
develop and grow our cycling aspirations enabling communities to improve 
their sense of wellbeing and health.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

10.
Outcomes Implications 

All people in Doncaster benefit 
from a thriving and resilient 
economy.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 

Page 37



voice for our veterans
 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 

Doncaster’s vital services
People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives.

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living

From experience of 2016 TDY, the 
events have the power to engage 
our communities to develop long 
term changes to their communities 
enabling them to prosper and grow.

Delivery of programmes will enable 
great proportion of our population 
to become active reducing 
inequities 

People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 
and Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 
our Communities 

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 
down the cost of living

Delivering greater opportunities 
particular infrastructure 
improvements to cycle as a form of 
transport will reduce the reliance on 
the car to travel and significantly 
reduce the cost of living for key 
sections of our communities

All families thrive.

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services

Council services are modern and 
value for money.

Following a robust planning 
process, we will enable the council 
to deliver a safe, enjoyable and 
engaging event that is   best value.

Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

11. A risk register has been established to monitor and mitigate issues and risks. 
The following key categories have been identified and specific individual 
assessments undertaken:

 Financial: 

Page 38



 Organisational and service delivery
 Reputation
 Safety and Security
 Stake holder management

These areas of risk will be constantly reviewed by the project board ensuring 
that they are closely monitored and reported actioned upon when necessary.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

12. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the Council with a general power 
of competence, allowing the Council to do anything that individuals generally 
may do. Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 gives the Council the 
power to purchase goods and services

Section 2B of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by Section 
12 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012) introduced a new duty on Councils 
in England to take appropriate steps to improve the health of the people who 
live in their area.

Procurements undertaken to further events and programme must comply with 
the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and where applicable the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015.  . 

The terms and conditions of any applicable Grant Funding Agreements (LTP 
funding, STEP funding and STAF funding) must be complied with to avoid 
clawback of the grant funding and where Doncaster is the accountable body 
for any such funding, funding terms and conditions should be passed down to 
3rd party recipients of the funding.  

The Council intend to enter into a concession agreement with Nextbike.  A 
concession agreement is an agreement for pecuniary interest where by the 
Council will entrust the provision and management of a service to a provider,  
the provider is given the right to exploit the service and the right to gather 
payment   The value anticipated for this particular arrangements falls well 
short of the threshold for the purposes of the Concession Contract 
Regulations 2016 and therefore the direct award to Nextbike will not breach 
the Concession Contract Regulations 2016.

Further legal advice and assistance will be required as the various events and 
programmes progress.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

11. The total cost of the programme of activities shown above is £2.984m with 
proposed financing detailed below: -.

2017/18 2018/19 Total
Funding Source £000’s £000’s £000’s

Page 39



Local Transport Plan (LTP) 20 200 220
Sustainable Transport Exemplar Programme 
(STEP)

840 840

Sustainable Transport Access Fund (STAF) 191 191 382
Department for Transport (DfT) 21 21 42
General Reserves 75 325 400
MRP Revenue Contribution 40 560 600
Cycle Scheme Match Funding - British Cycling 500 500

Total 1,187 1,797 2,984

The LTP and STEP funding are already included in the Council’s capital 
programme for 2017/18 and in the 2018/19 budget setting report.  Schemes 
have been developed in line with the requirements of the South Yorkshire 
Integrated Transport Board (SYITB); allocations to these projects for 2018/19 
are still subject to endorsement by the SYITB.

Approval to enter into the STAF funding agreement was agreed at Cabinet 
28th November 2017 on the basis that it would be used for the schemes 
outlined above.  The grant is ring-fenced for these outcomes.

The DfT funding has already been allocated to the Council for Bikeability and 
is included in the Council’s revenue budget.  This extends beyond the two 
years shown with a further £21k in 2019/20.

Two previous decision records have been written to approve the use of 
General Reserves that are listed in the table above. One Officer Decision 
report was for the payment to Welcome to Yorkshire (WTY) £75k per annum 
for three years. The second Corporate report is being taken forward for 
hosting the two cycle races (£175k and £75k) It should be noted that the WTY 
agreement extends into 2019/20 (beyond the two years shown above). 

The Cycle Track scheme was added to the AHW Capital Programme in 
2016/17. £650k was requested from DMBC resources to be added to £500k 
British Cycling grant income, assuming the bid was successful. The outcome 
of the grant bid submission is not yet known. Preliminary works such as 
planning applications began in 16/17 but work has not yet commenced on the 
actual building of the track. It is anticipated that there will be no ongoing 
revenue costs associated with this scheme as it is expected that the track will 
transfer to Doncaster Culture and Leisure Trust (DCLT) to manage alongside 
the other Leisure Assets.

The other items identified are either one-off expenditure with any continuing 
activity dependent on further funding allocations or improvements to the cycle 
network with any future costs included in the Council’s on-going highway 
maintenance programme and its associated funding.  At this stage no other 
on-going revenue costs have been identified but there is a risk that the wide 
ranging nature of the activities may mean some arise in the future and further 
funding would need to be identified.

Page 40



The availability of section 106 monies will be dependent on the terms and 
conditions of individual agreements with developers, identification of which will 
be an on-going process.

Any activities beyond the two years will be subject to further funding 
allocations.  It is anticipated that the Council will continue to receive capital 
funding from the Department for Transport for the Integrated Transport Block 
but at this stage the programme of activities for this have not yet been 
developed.

The city style bike hire scheme as described suggests that this would be zero 
cost to the Council but it is a potentially complicated contractual arrangement 
and it is recommended that further financial advice is sought as the project 
develops.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

12. There are no Human Resources implications contained within this report.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

13. There are no anticipated technology implications in relation to the 
recommended options in this report. Technology implications to support the 
delivery of the Tour De Yorkshire and UCI World Championships have been 
provided in the previous report ‘Cycling Major Events Programme 2018 and 
2019’.  

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

14. Due regard statement has been completed and included with this report

CONSULTATION

15. Consultation has been undertaken with portfolio holder and directors

BACKGROUND PAPERS

16. None

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Andrew Maddox, Business Development Manager, Leisure Services 
01302 737377 andy.maddox@doncaster.gov.uk

Kerry Perruzza Senior Transport Planner, Regeneration and Environment
01302 735435         Kerry.perruzza@doncaster.gov.uk 

Page 41

mailto:andy.maddox@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:Kerry.perruzza@doncaster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



To the Chair and Members of CABINET

DONCASTER ATTENDANCE STRATEGY

Relevant Cabinet Member(s) Wards Affected Key Decision
Councillor Nuala Fennelly All No

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this document is to introduce Cabinet to the Attendance Strategy and 
associated delivery plan for the improvement of Attendance and Persistent Absence 
at school level.

2. This programme is the LOCYP response to the request for a report that investigated 
the scale of the issue and how it links with the Doncaster Children and Young 
Peoples Plan 2017-2021 and the Social Mobility Opportunity Area, enabling teams to 
maximise their skills and expertise on delivering improved outcomes to children and 
young people.

3. The Doncaster Children and Young Peoples Plan 2017-2020 clearly articulates 
‘strengthened partnership working and the acceptance that it is a collective 
responsibility to ensure that we create the right conditions for children and young 
people to thrive in Doncaster’ (p4) and targets a significant shift in outcomes around 
attendance.

4. There is a sense of collective responsibility and purpose evident across the Team 
Doncaster partnership to address the issues that schools in Doncaster face. Building 
on the evidence of the CYPP the Education & Skills Commission seeks to strengthen 
schools by improving the quality of teaching and learning, improving teacher 
recruitment and retention, and by ensuring that there is a broad and balanced 
curriculum that both meets the needs of pupils and the labour market. This is 
reflected in our ‘Raising aspiration and achievement strategy’, which sets out how 
local partnerships will impact upon school provision and outcomes including, 
specifically attendance.

5. Attendance is one of the three strands of the work of the Doncaster Growing together 
Inclusion board, which provides overall governance for this strategy.

6. This is strongly correlated with the ambition and intent of the Social Mobility 
Opportunity Area. Doncaster is set to receive £6m in funding over the next three 
years to improve the life chances of children and young people; an initial analysis of 
the challenges we collectively face has focussed on the home learning environment, 
narrowing the gap between disadvantaged pupils and their more affluent peers, 
persistent absence, and higher level qualifications.

Date:   9 January 2018

Page 43

Agenda Item 9.



EXEMPT REPORT

7. Not exempt.

RECOMMENDATIONS

8.
 To note that the poor performance of schools in this area is a key issue for Team 

Doncaster and impacts on a multitude of associated economic and social outcomes for 
children and young people. 

 To explore underlying reasons.
 To give priority to a public attendance campaign that draws attention to the scale of the 

problem and the social and financial costs of allowing this position to continue, whilst 
setting out a clear position to the community regarding the value of attending school.

 To endorse the strategic actions in this plan and to monitor the impact of this work, 
notably:

o To directly support and challenge all Doncaster schools who are performing 
below the National Average for attendance.

o To offer professional development opportunities for school leaders and 
governors so that they are increasingly able to improve attendance in their 
settings.

o To review the work of the DMBC attendance service in order to ensure 
greater impact upon attendance and persistent absenteeism.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

9. The impact of high levels of school absence are a significant problem for citizens, 
limiting equality of opportunity, employment, economic activity, aspirations and the 
quality of educational provisions and their outcomes.

 
10. Whilst children are not attending school they are of much greater risk of harm and 

this presents a genuine safeguarding risk. For individual citizens there is great risk of 
longer term problems with employability, engagement and poverty. Reversing this 
trend is a priority activity.

BACKGROUND

11. Doncaster’s attendance and Persistent Absentee figures have been significantly 
below the National Average in both compulsory phases of education for the last nine 
years and are worsening.

12. Students counted as persistently absent have attended school for less than 90%. 
This represents half a day per week. Young people with this level of absence has a 
significant effect on outcomes, with over 90% of students in this category failing to 
achieve 5 A*-C with English and Maths  at GCSE.

13. There are a significant number of schools that are above the National Average for 
persistent absenteeism, with only three secondary schools at or above the National 

Page 44



Average for persistent absenteeism. Seventeen schools have persistent absenteeism 
affecting over 20% of their cohort. This is a key issue for children in the borough.

Page 45



14. Aims of the strategy

• To develop collective responsibility for driving improvements in attendance. 

• To deliver greater accountability for Doncaster schools around absence and P.A. 
ensuring that schools have a whole school approach to improving attendance.

• To ensure that school improvement services have a clearly defined role in 
improving attendance.

• Ensure that the attendance service is having a clear impact upon schools

15. Summary of actions:

  Conducting a Doncaster-wide campaign stressing the fundamental importance of 
school attendance and highlighting the risks of continuing poor performance in this 
area.

 To develop a Doncaster wide approach to and ownership of attendance issues.

 To identify schools who are persistently below the National Average for absence 
and support and challenge them to improve their practice.

 To offer a programme of professional development including networking 
opportunities that will develop the leadership capacity of schools in this area.

 To provide support and challenge to schools in order to reduce the impact of fixed 
term exclusions upon whole school attendance.

 To provide renewed leadership to schools by strengthening guidance and 
expectations around enforcement and day to day practice.

16. What success looks like

• There is effective targeted support in place from across the council for all schools 
who need to improve attendance and pupil behaviour.

• There is a consistent approach to the managing of attendance and behaviour 
across Doncaster.

• There is a reduction in persistent absence and an increase in pupil attendance 
across all schools so that the Doncaster statistics are in line with the national 
average..

• There is a reduction in the number of fixed term exclusions across all schools. 

• There is a diminishing distance between disadvantaged pupils and their peers in 
relation to persistent absence and attendance.

• Improve the quality of provision (educational and therapeutic) available for CYP 
with behavioural difficulties both in a mainstream setting and in alternative 
settings.

• There are strong networks and CPD opportunities for those leading behaviour and 
attendance in schools.

Page 46



• The L.A. and key stakeholders have a clear role in supporting the improvements in 
attendance, fixed term exclusion rates and the quality of behaviour provision in 
Doncaster.

17. Officers have been engaged in working directly with schools since October 2017. We 
expect to see improvements in rates of attendance and a reduction in persistent 
absence over the first year of the project. The strategy is expected to maintain its 
delivery through academic years 2017-2018 and 2018-2019.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED

18. There are no alternative options within this report.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

19. There are no recommended options.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

20.
Outcomes Implications 
All people in Doncaster benefit 
from a thriving and resilient 
economy.
 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 

and Housing
 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong 

voice for our veterans
 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 

Doncaster’s vital services

Improve social mobility and economic 
activity by improving school 
engagement and outcomes.

People live safe, healthy, active 
and independent lives.
 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 

our Communities  
 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 

down the cost of living

Ensuring that all school prioritise 
student safety and have robust 
procedures for minimising school 
absence. Reducing the likelihood of 
anti-social behaviour through 
school absence.

People in Doncaster benefit from 
a high quality built and natural 
environment.
 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs 

and Housing
 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding 

our Communities 
 Mayoral Priority: Bringing 

down the cost of living
All families thrive.
 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 

Doncaster’s vital services

Schools become more effective in 
providing support and guidance for 
families and ensuring greater 
engagement with the school system 
and other agencies.

Council services are modern and 
value for money.

The authority will, as part of this 
strategy, review the effectiveness of its 

Page 47



attendance provision in order that it 
impacts upon a broader range of 
families and schools.

Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

Focused training and network
events are provided through the
Local Authority.
Supporting and challenging school 
leaders in order to improve systems 
and practices within their settings.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

21. Doncaster’s schools are challenged by their Governing Bodies, the Local Authority 
and OFSTED in order to ensure that children attend school.

22. The Local Authority monitors results and progress and exercises its duties in 
accordance with the Doncaster School Improvement Strategy.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

23. A local authority has a number of statutory duties concerning attendance and this 
strategy assists in ensuring these duties are met. Specific relevant duties include 
identifying children not receiving education and sending a written notice to parents; 
power to prosecute a parent for a child’s non-attendance; publishing a Code for 
penalty notices to address poor attendance and administering the penalty notice 
regime; and to investigate the whereabouts of pupils who have poor attendance and 
are at risk of being deleted from the schools’ admission register.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

24. The total controllable expenditure budget for the Attendance and Education at Home 
team is £668,290. The staffing posts included within this budget are subject to the 
on-going LOCYP Functional Analysis.

Any additional expenditure arising from the Attendance Strategy will need to be fully 
costed to ensure that funding is available from existing resources.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

25. There are no specific HR implications related to the content of this report. If there are 
HR implications arising from specific elements of the Attendance Strategy and 
associated delivery plans these will be addressed at the appropriate time.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

26. There are no technology implications arising from this report.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

27. We must give due consideration to the extent to which the Council has complied with 
its Public Equality Duty and given due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination 
and promote equality of opportunity. The equality of expectation for all children, 
including those that disadvantaged, is a core value within all aspects of the work 

Page 48



undertaken in education settings and underpins the support and challenge provided 
by officers.

CONSULTATION

28. No further consultation is required for this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

DMBC Attendance Strategy report

REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS

Martyn Owen
Head of Service, Behaviour and Inclusion
martyn.owen@doncaster.gov.uk

Louise Greatrex, Consultant, 
Louise.greatrex@doncaster.gov.uk

Damian Allen
Director of People

Page 49

mailto:martyn.owen@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:Louise.greatrex@doncaster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          1

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 

 Strategy for Attendance and Persistent Absence – Schools 2017 -18.

Contents 

Section Page 
Executive summary
Introduction and Rationale
Vision
Aims
The priorities of the strategy 

3-9
10
11
11
11

Persistent Absence 11

Vulnerable pupil groups 13

Attendance data collection  17

How schools can promote attendance and 
reduce persistent absence

20

How the Local Authority will promote 
attendance and fulfil statutory duties

21

LA Statutory duties 22

Admissions, Attendance and Pupil Welfare 
Service 
Children  Missing Education
Elective Home Education Team – Statutory 
duties
Admissions, Attendance and Pupil Welfare 
Service – Traded Offer to schools

22

23

24

25

Role & responsibilities of wider partners
The Behaviour and Inclusion Team 
Doncaster Children’s Services Trust 

26

Page 51



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          2

(DCST) (Social Care)
Communities Area Team 
Magistrates
Police 

26
27
27
28

Local Authority Safeguarding Team 
Post 16 
Virtual School – Looked After Children 
Virtual School – Gypsy, Roma, Traveller 
(GRT) and English as an Additional Language 
(EAL) 
Early Years
Elected members
Parents and Carers
Governing Bodies
School partnerships 
Systems Support Team 
Youth Offending Service
Health
Education Standards and Effectiveness 
Officers 
Early Help Hub

28
29
29

29
30
30
30
30
31
31
31
31
32
32

33

The Pupil Level School Census 33

Next steps actions

Monitoring and reviewing

Priorities and success criteria

34

36

36

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Cabinet report Summer 2017
Appendix 2 - Legislation Statutory Intervention 
– Attendance Legal proceedings
Appendix 3 - The local procedures on DSCB 
website
Appendix 4 - Attendance and P.A. strategy- 
Objectives and actions
Appendix 5 – Focus schools attendance letter-
September 2017

38

40

42

47

50

Page 52



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          3

ATTENDANCE STRATEGY EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. The purpose of this document is to introduce Cabinet to the Attendance Strategy and associated 
delivery plan for the improvement of Attendance and Persistent Absence at school level.

2. This programme is the LOCYP response to the request for a report that investigated the scale of 
the issue and how it links with the Doncaster Children and Young Peoples Plan 2017-2021 and 
the Social Mobility Opportunity Area, enabling teams to maximise their skills and expertise on 
delivering improved outcomes to children and young people.

3. The Doncaster Children and Young Peoples Plan 2017-2020 clearly articulates ‘strengthened 
partnership working and the acceptance that it is a collective responsibility to ensure that we 
create the right conditions for children and young people to thrive in Doncaster’ (p4) and targets 
a significant shift in outcomes around attendance.

4. There is a sense of collective responsibility and purpose evident across the Team Doncaster 
partnership to address the issues that schools in Doncaster face. Building on the evidence of the 
CYPP the Education & Skills Commission seeks to strengthen schools by improving the quality of 
teaching and learning, improving teacher recruitment and retention, and by ensuring that there 
is a broad and balanced curriculum that both meets the needs of pupils and the labour market. 
This is reflected in our ‘Raising aspiration and achievement strategy’, which sets out how local 
partnerships will impact upon school provision and outcomes including, specifically attendance.

5. Attendance is one of the three strands of the work of the Doncaster Growing together Inclusion 
board, which provides overall governance for this strategy.

6. This is strongly correlated with the ambition and intent of the Social Mobility Opportunity Area. 
Doncaster is set to receive £6m in funding over the next three years to improve the life chances 
of children and young people; an initial analysis of the challenges we collectively face has 
focussed on the home learning environment, narrowing the gap between disadvantaged pupils 
and their more affluent peers, persistent absence, and higher level qualifications.

Page 53



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          4

EXEMPT REPORT

7. Not exempt.

RECOMMENDATIONS

8.

 To note that the poor performance of schools in this area is a key issue for Team Doncaster 
and impacts on a multitude of associated economic and social outcomes for children and 
young people. 

 To explore underlying reasons.

 To give priority to a public attendance campaign that draws attention to the scale of the 
problem and the social and financial costs of allowing this position to continue, whilst setting 
out a clear position to the community regarding the value of attending school.

 To endorse the strategic actions in this plan and to monitor the impact of this work, notably:

o To directly support and challenge all Doncaster schools who are performing below 
the National Average for attendance.

o To offer professional development opportunities for school leaders and governors so 
that they are increasingly able to improve attendance in their settings.

o To review the work of the DMBC attendance service in order to ensure greater 
impact upon attendance and persistent absenteeism.

WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER?

9. The impact of high levels of school absence are a significant problem for citizens, limiting 
equality of opportunity, employment, economic activity, aspirations and the quality of 
educational provisions and their outcomes.

 

10. Whilst children are not attending school they are of much greater risk of harm and this 
presents a genuine safeguarding risk. For individual citizens there is great risk of longer term 

Page 54



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          5

problems with employability, engagement and poverty. Reversing this trend is a priority 
activity.

BACKGROUND

11. Doncaster’s attendance and Persistent Absentee figures have been significantly 
below the National Average in both compulsory phases of education for the last nine 
years and are worsening.

12. Students counted as persistently absent have attended school for less than 90%. 
This represents half a day per week. Young people with this level of absence has a 
significant effect on outcomes, with over 90% of students in this category failing to 
achieve 5 A*-C with English and Maths  at GCSE.

13. There are a significant number of schools that are above the National Average for 
persistent absenteeism, with only three secondary schools at or above the National 
Average for persistent absenteeism. Seventeen schools have persistent absenteeism 
affecting over 20% of their cohort. This is a key issue for children in the borough.

Page 55



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          6

14. Aims of the strategy

• To develop collective responsibility for driving improvements in attendance. 

• To deliver greater accountability for Doncaster schools around absence and P.A. 
ensuring that schools have a whole school approach to improving attendance.

• To ensure that school improvement services have a clearly defined role in improving 
attendance.

• Ensure that the attendance service is having a clear impact upon schools

15. Summary of actions:

  Conducting a Doncaster-wide campaign stressing the fundamental importance of school 
attendance and highlighting the risks of continuing poor performance in this area.

 To develop a Doncaster wide approach to and ownership of attendance issues.

 To identify schools who are persistently below the National Average for absence and 
support and challenge them to improve their practice.

 To offer a programme of professional development including networking 
opportunities that will develop the leadership capacity of schools in this area.

 To provide support and challenge to schools in order to reduce the impact of fixed 
term exclusions upon whole school attendance.

 To provide renewed leadership to schools by strengthening guidance and 
expectations around enforcement and day to day practice.

16. What success looks like

• There is effective targeted support in place from across the council for all schools 
who need to improve attendance and pupil behaviour.

• There is a consistent approach to the managing of attendance and behaviour across 
Doncaster.

• There is a reduction in persistent absence and an increase in pupil attendance across all 
schools so that the Doncaster statistics are in line with the national average..

• There is a reduction in the number of fixed term exclusions across all schools. 

• There is a diminishing distance between disadvantaged pupils and their peers in 
relation to persistent absence and attendance.

• Improve the quality of provision (educational and therapeutic) available for CYP with 
behavioural difficulties both in a mainstream setting and in alternative settings.

Page 56



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          7

• There are strong networks and CPD opportunities for those leading behaviour and 
attendance in schools.

• The L.A. and key stakeholders have a clear role in supporting the improvements in 
attendance, fixed term exclusion rates and the quality of behaviour provision in 
Doncaster.

17. Officers have been engaged in working directly with schools since October 2017. We expect 
to see improvements in rates of attendance and a reduction in persistent absence over the 
first year of the project. The strategy is expected to maintain its delivery through academic 
years 2017-2018 and 2018-2019.

IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES

18.

Outcomes Implications 

All people in Doncaster benefit from a 
thriving and resilient economy.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs and 
Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Be a strong voice 
for our veterans

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services

Improve social mobility and economic 
activity by improving school engagement 
and outcomes.

People live safe, healthy, active and 
independent lives.

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding our 
Communities  

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing down the 
cost of living

Ensuring that all school prioritise student 
safety and have robust procedures for 
minimising school absence. Reducing the 
likelihood of anti-social behaviour through 
school absence.

People in Doncaster benefit from a high 
quality built and natural environment.

 Mayoral Priority: Creating Jobs and 
Housing

 Mayoral Priority: Safeguarding our 

Page 57



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          8

Communities 

 Mayoral Priority: Bringing down the 
cost of living

All families thrive.

 Mayoral Priority: Protecting 
Doncaster’s vital services

Schools become more effective in 
providing support and guidance for 
families and ensuring greater engagement 
with the school system and other 
agencies.

Council services are modern and value 
for money.

The authority will, as part of this strategy, 
review the effectiveness of its attendance 
provision in order that it impacts upon a 
broader range of families and schools.

Working with our partners we will 
provide strong leadership and 
governance.

Focused training and network

events are provided through the

Local Authority.

Supporting and challenging school leaders 
in order to improve systems and practices 
within their settings.

RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS

19. Doncaster’s schools are challenged by their Governing Bodies, the Local Authority and 
OFSTED in order to ensure that children attend school.

20. The Local Authority monitors results and progress and exercises its duties in accordance with 
the Doncaster School Improvement Strategy.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

21. A local authority has a number of statutory duties concerning attendance and this strategy 
assists in ensuring these duties are met. Specific relevant duties include identifying children 
not receiving education and sending a written notice to parents; power to prosecute a 
parent for a child’s non-attendance; publishing a Code for penalty notices to address poor 

Page 58



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          9

attendance and administering the penalty notice regime; and to investigate the 
whereabouts of pupils who have poor attendance and are at risk of being deleted from the 
schools’ admission register.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

22. The total controllable expenditure budget for the Attendance and Education at Home team 
is £668,290. The staffing posts included within this budget are subject to the on-going LOCYP 
Functional Analysis.

Any additional expenditure arising from the Attendance Strategy will need to be fully costed 
to ensure that funding is available from existing resources.

HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

23. There are no specific HR implications related to the content of this report. If there are HR 
implications arising from specific elements of the Attendance Strategy and associated 
delivery plans these will be addressed at the appropriate time.

TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

24. There are no technology implications arising from this report.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

25. We must give due consideration to the extent to which the Council has complied with its 
Public Equality Duty and given due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and 
promote equality of opportunity. The equality of expectation for all children, including those 
that disadvantaged, is a core value within all aspects of the work undertaken in education 
settings and underpins the support and challenge provided by officers.

Introduction and Rationale

The expectation for children and young people to attend school/education every day underpins the 
focus of this strategy as a key factor in promoting better outcomes for all young people. It is the 
collective responsibility of schools, academies, Multi Academy Trusts, Local Authorities, Multi 
Agencies who support children and young people, parents/carers and key partners to promote and 
support good and improving attendance. 

The Doncaster Children and Young Peoples Plan 2017-2020 clearly articulates ‘strengthened 
partnership working and the acceptance that it is a collective responsibility to ensure that we create 
the right conditions for children and young people to thrive in Doncaster’ (p4) and targets a 
significant shift in outcomes around attendance.

There is a sense of collective responsibility and purpose evident across the Team Doncaster 
partnership to address the issues that schools in Doncaster face. Building on the evidence of the 

Page 59



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          10

CYPP the Education & Skills Commission seeks to strengthen schools by improving the quality of 
teaching and learning, improving teacher recruitment and retention, and by ensuring that there is a 
broad and balanced curriculum that both meets the needs of pupils and the labour market. This is 
reflected in our ‘Raising aspiration and achievement strategy’, which sets out how local partnerships 
will impact upon school provision and outcomes including, specifically attendance.

This is strongly correlated with the ambition and intent of the Social Mobility Opportunity Area. 
Doncaster is set to receive £6m in funding over the next three years to improve the life chances of 
children and young people; an initial analysis of the challenges we collectively face has focussed on 
the home learning environment, narrowing the gap between disadvantaged pupils and their more 
affluent peers, persistent absence, and higher level qualifications. By having a consistent focus on 
these issues we feel confident we can make significant progress in improving outcomes for children 
and young people. 

The link between attendance, attainment and better outcomes for young people can be measured 
by the qualifications and relevant skills, including life skills and aspirations to secure a place within 
further education/training or to secure employment. Attendance is also linked to safeguarding and is 
a recurrent theme in Serious Case Reviews. The Local Authority and schools must act in a way that 
protects young people and ensure attendance is high on their respective agendas, take the 
necessary steps to notice, follow up and alert the necessary agencies when a child or young person is 
regularly absent or has a prolonged absence from their educational setting. This document will 
provide a corporate approach for managing attendance and absence in Doncaster.

Vision

A comprehensive strategy to reduce absence and the level of persistent absence that filters through 
all agencies and settings working with children and young people will be evaluated and reviewed. 
This document intends to help schools and services efficiently manage pupil attendance and absence 
procedures as set down by the statutory requirements and the guidance from the Department for 
Education. 

Aims
 Overall attendance improves and persistent absence reduces
 Vulnerable groups of pupils attend school regularly in line with their peers
 Children and young people who are disengaged from learning can access provision that 

provides interest and learning
 Schools provide secure safe environments with high quality teaching and learning
 Parents, schools and partners understand their contribution and engage in promoting good 

attendance
 Young people will improve their life chances and reach their full potential by attending 

school regularly
 Young people leave school adequately equipped to access employment or further education 

and training and develop the relevant life skills to be successful in their adult life 

Page 60



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          11

The priorities of the strategy 

 To create a culture across the borough that reflects the desire to raise aspiration for all 
Doncaster children and young people

 To develop new ways of promoting good and outstanding attendance whilst continuing to  
challenge, support and build the capacity of schools’ own management of attendance 

 To work collaboratively across teams to provide early intervention and prevention  
 To identify and  support vulnerable groups of children including  disadvantaged children, 

Looked After Children, Pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities, Young carers, 
children with  health needs  that impact on their learning , achievement and attainment 
including both Physical and Mental Health needs, and Minority Ethnic groups especially 
Gypsy, European Roma and Travellers of Irish heritage .

 To provide high quality, effective and targeted Local Authority Support in a timely manner.
 To ensure the Local Authority supports schools and education settings to make Full and 

Effective use of Legal Powers
 To ensure the overarching theme of safeguarding children is linked to all priorities.

Persistent Absence 
Persistent Absence thresholds have changed from when they were first introduced in 2005/6, where 
pupils with attendance below 80% were originally identified in this category. This is equivalent to 1 
day absent per 5 day week.  
The threshold was adjusted to 85% and below in 2010/11 to raise expectations in recognition of 
improvements to attendance nationally. The last a change to 90% threshold level occurred in 
2015/16. This is equivalent to ½ day absent per 5 day week.

Persistent Absence Threshold 80% Up to 2009/10
Persistent Absence Threshold 85% Up to 2014/15
Persistent Absence Threshold 90% From 2015/16

All historic figures given for persistent absence are based on the current methodology 
of 90% threshold. This section uses the “5 terms” data as “6 terms” data is not available 
before 2012/13.

Primary Mainstream Schools Persistent Absence
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Doncaster 16.6% 17.1% 16.9% 12.2% 12.8% 9.5% 9.8% 10.5%
National 14.6% 14.1% 13.2% 10.4% 11.3% 8.2% 8.5% 8.2%
Gap 2% 3% 3.7% 1.8% 1.5% 1.3% 1.3% 2.3%

Secondary Mainstream Schools Persistent Absence 
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Doncaster 26.3% 23.5% 22.8% 19.0% 17.9% 15.0% 15.3% 16.3%
National 22.5% 20.9% 19.5% 16.8% 16.2% 13.2% 13.4% 13.1%
Gap 3.8% 2.6% 3.3% 2.2% 1.7% 1.8% 1.9% 3.2%

Table 1.1- Doncaster Primary and Secondary Persistent Absence compared to 
National data sets. 

Page 61



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          12

Graph 1.1 - Doncaster Primary and Secondary Persistent Absence compared to 
National data sets. 

Table 1.1 and Graph 1.1 show how Doncaster has always been above the figures for 
persistent absence for eight years, compared with National in both phases of education. In 
general Secondary schools in Doncaster have had a larger gap between Doncaster schools 
compared to national data. The highest gap was 2015/16 when the threshold for Persistent 
absence was increased to 90% with +3.2% above national. The lowest gap for secondary 
schools was 2012/13 with +1.7% above national. This was the third year when the threshold 
was 85% for persistent absence. When comparing the gap in 2010/11 when the 85% 
|threshold was first introduced Doncaster gap with national was +3.3%. The trend during the 
five year period for the 85% threshold was improving up to 2012/13 with slight increases for 
the next 2 years. When the threshold was increased to 90% the gap widened to +3.2% 
compared to national figures in 2015/16.

In Doncaster primary schools the largest gap with national was 2010/11 with +3.7%. This 
coincided with the introduction of the 85% threshold. There was an improvement the 
following year 2011/12 where the gap was reduced to +1.8%. The gap with national was at 
its lowest in 2013/14 & 2014/15 at 1.3%. The gap increased when the 90% threshold was 
introduced in 2015/16 to +2.3%

Overall Doncaster schools have not been in line with national averages for the last 8 years 
up to 2015/16. Although there were improvements made they were not sustained. Each time 
the threshold was increased there were widening gaps with national data. This points to a 
need to focus on persistent absence to close the gaps with national data that must be 
sustained.

96% attendance means a pupil has been absent for 8/190 days in 
an academic year

Vulnerable pupil groups 

Missed learning in the form of poor attendance, makes young people more vulnerable. 

Page 62



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          13

The proportion of children entitled to free school meals in Doncaster has been above the national 
averages in both primary and secondary schools over a period of 8 years up to 2015/16. By focusing 
on 2015/16 there were 15.8% in primary compared to national average of 14.1% and 14.8% in 
secondary compared to national average of 12.9%. See table 2.1 below. Family circumstances are 
more diverse than ever, early childhood development is poorer than many other Authorities. Figures 
for free school meals in primary schools nationally are higher than secondary schools. Changes in 
figures year on year show how the threshold for claiming free school meals have changed not 
necessarily due to families having an increase in income when looking at the drop in percentages 
from 2014/15, this is reflected at national level as well as in Doncaster.

The largest gap in primary between national data and Doncaster was 2013/14 with a gap of +3.5% in 
Doncaster compared to national. In secondary schools the largest gap was 2012/13 with a gap of 
+1.6% from national data. This was also the highest percentage over an 8 year period in Doncaster 
for both primary and secondary schools, 21.2% and 16.7% respectively.

Percentage of primary school pupils eligible for free school meals
2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Doncaster 20.4% 20.3% 20.9% 21.2% 20.5% 17.3% 16.4% 15.8%
National 17.3% 18.0% 18.1% 18.1% 17.0% 15.6% 14.5% 14.1%
Gap +3.1 +2.3 +2.8 +3.1 +3.5 +1.7 +1.9 +1.7

Percentage of secondary school pupils eligible for free school meals
2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Doncaster 15.1% 15.4% 16.0% 16.7% 16.1% 14.9% 14.8% 14.8%
National 14.2% 14.6% 14.8% 15.1% 14.6% 13.9% 13.2% 12.9%
Gap +0.9 +0.6 +1.2 +1.6 +1.5 +1 +0.9 +1.9

Table 2.1 – Doncaster primary and secondary schools pupils eligible for free school 
meals compared to national data.

Graph 2.1 – Doncaster primary and secondary schools pupils eligible for free school 
meals compared to national data.

Ofsted expect schools to have a clear understanding of their vulnerable groups of pupils in 
relation to attendance. Schools should be able to analyse their data to demonstrate how 
each group is performing compared to one another.  Missed learning due to poor attendance 

Page 63



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          14

makes children and young people more vulnerable to lower educational outcomes and 
places them at risk in terms of safeguarding. Doncaster and partner agencies will need to 
work collaboratively to ensure the level of support required for these pupils is coordinated 
effectively to have an impact on individual pupils and families.

Vulnerable cohorts of pupils include:

 Pupils who are eligible for pupil premium
 Children and young people identified as having SEND either as a statutory EHCP or 

at SEN Support
 Children with a medical condition
 Children Looked After
 Children/young people subject to a child protection plan
 Children/young people classified as a child in need
 Young carers
 Gypsy/ Roma/ Travellers of Irish heritage 
 Pregnant School  girls/teenage parents
 Children Missing Education – either on a school roll or not allocated a place
 Children/young people who are persistently late to school
 Children and young people on part time or reduced timetables
 Children and young people who are excluded Fixed term/Permanent/ at risk of 

exclusion 

Good attendance at school is an important factor that ensures pupils have 
maximum life chances and is strongly linked to educational achievement.

Pupils with 95% attendance – 73% achieve 5 GCSE A*-C or 
equivalent including English & Mathematics

Factors associated with absenteeism 

Studies have found that many contextual factors are associated with absenteeism. Factors discussed 
below include neighbourhood attributes, school building conditions, pupil health conditions, and 
grade retaining policies. 
A large scale US study by Gottfried (2014) indicates that the neighbourhood context can influence 
school absenteeism in urban youth. The results from the study show significant relationships between 
school absences and neighbourhood attributes such as poverty, family structure, homeownership 
status, and race. 
Simons et al. (2010) found that building conditions in Upstate New York schools was also a 
contributing factor. An association was found between student absenteeism and adverse school 
building conditions such as visible mould, humidity, poor ventilation, vermin, building system or 
structural problems related to these conditions. These 43 effects were stronger in schools in lower 
socioeconomic areas and in schools attended by younger students. 
Researchers have also investigated the impact of certain health factors, along with socioeconomic 
status. In a US-based study of 920 fourth grade pupils, Baxter (2011) found no statistically significant 
relationship between absenteeism and Body Mass Index or Socio-economic Status (operationalised as 
eligibility for free/reduced price school meals). This result does contradict other research (see for 
example Gottfried, 2014, cited above), and more robust investigation may be needed to understand 

Page 64



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          15

the interplay of socio-economic status and absenteeism. 
Finally, a quasi-experimental study by Gottfried (2013b) examined the effect of retained pupils (pupils 
who repeat a year) on the outcomes of other students in the same classroom. Results showed that a 
greater percentage of retained classmates increased other students’ absence rates. Because the 
effect was only present on unexcused absences, and not excused absences, this suggests that grade 
retention increases disengagement levels in other students in the classroom. 
(A guide to absence statistics. Department for Education 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf p42)

Pupils with attendance below 92% risk dropping a GCSE grade; 
this is equivalent to 17 days absent in a year.

Approaches to reduce absenteeism – in line with the impact of absenteeism on 
achievement  

A literature review by Kearney and Graczyk (2014) identifies the need for identifying and 
intervening early, monitoring progress overtime, assessing functional behaviour, and the 
implementation of evidence-based procedures and protocols, and of team-based 
approaches. 
Researchers have also focussed on absence due to ill health (Wilkie 2011; 2012), and 
approaches to keeping those pupils in education. Wilkie (2012) conducted a qualitative case 
study of 22 senior secondary students and their mathematics teachers. The study found 
widespread ambiguities about educational responsibility for students during absence due to 
ill health. Teachers also demonstrated surprise in finding out that their students wished to 
continue their studies, and also a degree of hesitance to initiate contact with students. 
Students nevertheless expressed their desire for teachers to remain involved with them. 
Wilkie (2011) discusses the potential of using online collaboration to allow for academic 
continuity for pupils with absence due to chronic ill health. The study finds that early data 
from the ‘Information and Communications Technology addressing educational 
disadvantage due to remoteness or prolonged absence from school’ project (Royal Children’s 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf%20p42


Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          16

Hospital Education Institute, 2007), have demonstrated the potential of videoconferencing, 
online ‘whiteboarding’, and interactive whiteboard application sharing for pupils in this 
situation. The authors also acknowledge that this approach requires particular resources and 
infrastructures, and support for teachers.

(A guide to absence statistics. Department for Education 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf p43

Pupils with attendance between 80% - 90% only 35% achieve 5 
GCSE A*-C or equivalent including English & Mathematics

90% of Persistently Absent pupils fail to achieve 5 GCSE A*-C or 
equivalent including English & Mathematics.

33% of Persistent Absentees fail to achieve any GCSE grades at 
all.

Pupils with 50% or more absence – only 3% achieve 5 GCSE A*-C 
or equivalent including English & Mathematics

Attendance data collection – Timeline of key events 

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf%20p43


Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          17

(A guide to absence statistics. Department for Education 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf p55

Annex G – Absence rates over time 
The chart and table below shows overall, authorised and unauthorised absence rates, 
comparing absence levels from when collected via the attendance in schools survey to those 
collected via the school census. Comparisons here are for contextual information only and 
should be treated with caution as the survey and census did not collect information on the 
same basis – see background of absence data collection for further information. Current 
national statistics compare absence rates to the earliest comparable academic year, 
2006/07. 

Table 13: State-funded primary, secondary and special schools – Absence rates 1996/97 to 2015/16

 (A guide to absence statistics. Department for Education 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf p56)

 Doncaster compared to National - Primary school absence

07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf%20p55
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/602572/Guide_to_absence_statistics_2203217.pdf%20p56


Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          18

Auth 5.2% 5.0% 5.0% 4.7% 4.0% 4.1% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Unauth 0.6% 0.7% 0.8% 1.0% 0.8% 1.1% 1.2% 1.3% 1.4%

Do
nc

as
te

r

Total 5.8% 5.7% 5.8% 5.7% 4.8% 5.2% 4.2% 4.4% 4.4%
Auth 4.7% 4.7% 4.6% 4.3% 3.7% 3.9% 3.0% 3.1% 3.1%
Unauth 0.6% 0.6% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7% 0.8% 0.8% 0.9% 0.9%

N
at

io
na

l

Total 5.3% 5.3% 5.2% 5.0% 4.4% 4.7% 3.9% 4.0% 4.0%

Doncaster compared to National - Secondary school absence

07/08 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16
Auth 6.4% 5.9% 5.6% 5.3% 4.7% 4.5% 3.7% 3.6% 4.0%
Unauth 2.1% 2.2% 2.0% 2.1% 1.8% 2.1% 2.2% 2.3% 2.5%

Do
nc

as
te

r

Total 8.6% 8.1% 7.7% 7.4% 6.5% 6.6% 5.9% 5.9% 6.4%
Auth 5.9% 5.7% 5.4% 5.1% 4.6% 4.5% 3.9% 4.0% 3.8%
Unauth 1.5% 1.5% 1.5% 1.4% 1.3% 1.4% 1.3% 1.3% 1.4%

N
at

io
na

l

Total 7.3% 7.2% 6.9% 6.5% 5.9% 5.9% 5.2% 5.3% 5.2%

Table 3.1 – Doncaster overall absence compared to national 9 year trend

When comparing the level of absence at primary and secondary level in Doncaster with 
National figures it is possible to notice that Doncaster has higher levels of absence than 
national in both phases. The largest gap in primary schools was 2010/11 at +0.7% whereas 
in secondary schools the largest gap was 2007/8 +1.3%. 

Primary school absence in Doncaster compared to national had the largest gap in 2010/11 
at +0.7%. The narrowest gap was +0.3% in 2013/14 remaining at +0.4% in the following two 
years. When considering authorised absence compared to unauthorised absence figures; 
Doncaster primary schools were in line with national for authorised absence from 2013/14. 
However the difference in absence was due to the increase in unauthorised absences in 
Doncaster schools since 2012/13. Doncaster ranged from 1.1% - 1.4% between 2012/13 – 
2015/16 compared to national data ranging from 0.8%- 0.9% in the same period. This shows 
how Doncaster schools were coding absence and not authorising more absences than 
national levels.

In secondary schools the gap narrowed to a low of +0.6% in 2011/12 and 2014/15 increasing 
to +1.2% in 2015/16. The increased gap from +0.6% to +1.2% is a huge concern when 
looking at 2014/15 and 2015/16. The threshold for persistent absence increased nationally 
to 90% in 2015/16 but additional investigation is needed to explain the increase in absence 
between the two consecutive academic years. 

When looking at fixed term exclusions for Doncaster secondary schools in 2015/16 it is clear 
to see the increase in absence can be linked to the data for fixed term exclusions almost 
doubling when compared to 2014/15. At school level Mexborough, Balby Carr, Don Valley, 

Page 68



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          19

Ash Hill, De Warenne, Ridgewood & Hall Cross showed marked increases in the number of 
fixed term exclusions in 2015/16. Outwood Adwick with the highest number of fixed term 
exclusions had more than doubled in 2013/14 with a slight drop in 2014/15 and 2015/16 yet 
remained the highest fixed term excluding secondary school in the LA.

A focus on authorised absence compared to unauthorised absence shows how Doncaster 
has higher levels of unauthorised absence compared to national for the nine years 
represented in table 3.1. Doncaster unauthorised absence has ranged from 1.8% in 2011/12 
to its highest level of 2.5% in 2015/16. National data ranges from 1.3% to 1.5% during the 
same period. A focus on unauthorised absence and what schools are putting into place to 
reduce this type of absence to be in line with national should be implemented from 
2017/18.

Yorkshire and Humber region average attendance is 95.3% and 
Persistent absence is one of the highest regions nationally at 11.3%

Doncaster Yorks &Humber Stat Neighbours National
Absence (pri) 4.4% 4.1% 4.1% 4.0%
Absence (sec) 6.4% 5.5% 5.5% 5.2%
Absence (total) 5.3% 4.7% 4.7% 4.6%
PA (pri) 11.1% 8.9% 8.5% 8.2%
PA (sec) 17.5% 14.2% 14.2% 13.1%
PA (total) 13.8% 11.3% 11.1% 10.5%

Table 4.1 – Absence and persistent absence for Primary and Secondary schools 2015/16

It is possible to consider Doncaster data with regional, statistical neighbours and national 
data. Table 4.1 shows how Doncaster compared with all data sets is higher for the levels of 
absence and persistent absence. When comparing Doncaster with statistical neighbours the 
gap for absence in primary schools is +0.3%, Secondary schools is higher at +0.9%. The 
overall gap is +0.6% for all schools in Doncaster compared to statistical neighbours.  As a 
bench mark figure Doncaster needs to firstly come in line with its statistical neighbours, and 
ideally in line with national data.

The persistent absence gaps with statistical neighbours at primary level is +2.6% compared 
to secondary schools with a gap of +3.3%. In both cases a focus on the levels of persistent 
absence that are significantly higher than statistical neighbours is needed to ensure data is 
aligned to regional, statistical neighbours and national figures.
Data collected from Autumn 2016 for secondary schools showed levels of persistent 
absence for all secondary schools apart from Danum Academy. The following eight schools 
were above 20%. Outwood Adwick 20.6%; Trinity 20.9%; De Warrene 22%; Don Valley 

Page 69



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          20

24.3%; Ash Hill 25.3%; XP 26.7%; Mexborough 30.3% and Balby Carr 30.8% (placed into 
Special measures by Ofsted April 2017).  There were six schools  above national and below 
20% for persistent absence – Campsmount and Hall Cross 14.8%; Ridgewood and Rossington 
15.9%; McAuley 16.3% and Armthorpe 17.4%. Only 3 schools were at or below national 
averages for persistent absence during this period – Hayfield; Hungerhill and Sir Thomas 
Wharton. 

Further investigation of primary schools with high levels of persistent absence needs to be 
carried out to identify which primary schools are partner schools for the schools with the 
highest levels of persistent absence. This would allow a locality action plan to be developed 
to concentrate resources to make improvements. 

From the cabinet report that prompted this document nine primary schools were reported 
to have persistent absence ranging from 20.1% to 34.2% (Hexthorpe 20.1%; St Marys 20.8%; 
Grange Lane 22.2%; West Road 22.4%; Hillside 22.6%; Waverley 22.7%; Toll Bar 31.9%; Moss 
Road Infants 33.3% and Holy Family 34.2%). When we consider the figures for Persistent 
Absence, nationally is 8.2%, regionally 8.9% and statistical neighbours is 8.5% a focus on 
primary schools with excessively high levels of persistent absence must be implemented.

How schools can promote attendance and reduce persistent absence

In order for attendance and persistent absence to improve across Doncaster opportunities to 
identify and share good practice will be necessary. Nationally recognised good practice in schools 
who have successfully tackled poor attendance and persistent absence have the following in place:

 The Attendance Leader is a member of the Senior Leadership Team who provides reports to 
The Senior Leadership Team/Governors and directs the strategic leadership of attendance 
across the school

 The Attendance Policy is regularly reviewed  - annually-  clearly identifies how attendance is 
managed and monitored, with clear systems, roles and responsibilities of   staff/leaders and 
shared with all stakeholders to reflect practice within the school. Governors are consulted 
along with other stakeholders and ratify the policy

 There is a dedicated Governor responsible for attendance, who is knowledgeable and 
actively engaged in monitoring pupil attendance to support and challenge the school 
leadership team

 There are realistic yet challenging annual targets set by governors and used as an indicator 
of whole school performance and progress

 All registers are completed in line with the school procedures as part of safeguarding 
children by encouraging punctuality and regular attendance to school

 An admission and attendance register is accurately kept by the school and regularly quality 
assured by a senior member of the leadership team and are in line with  statutory 
requirements

 Follow the statutory regulations and requirements for  removing pupils from the admissions 
register 

 All registers record a morning and an afternoon attendance mark for all pupils
 First day calling procedures are in place with robust and timely follow up to ensure all pupils 

are accounted for in terms of safeguarding

Page 70



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          21

 The school analyses its data in terms of whole school, groups, vulnerable cohorts and 
individual pupils to spot patterns and any changes in attendance to promote efficient and 
timely monitoring and referral systems that provide support when appropriate 

 The school uses the national attendance codes correctly as regards authorised and 
unauthorised absence, including a rigorous approach to sanctioning holidays in term time in 
line with LA and national guidelines.

 Notify the LA of any unexplained absences above 10 continuous school days  clearly 
documenting what the school had done to ascertain the whereabouts of a child as part of 
safeguarding procedures

 The school works in partnership with parents/carers by actively seeking to develop effective 
and strong links for the benefit of pupils.

 Have a system of interventions that are internal to the school or external such as Early Help  
Assessments to support a pupil to improve their attendance

 Make referrals to the LA for any statutory casework / fixed penalty notices whilst  continuing 
to support a child to attend using whole school systems

 Keep accurate records of interventions/support offered to encourage good and improved 
attendance. Early intervention, a chronology of all contact linked to pupil absence with the 
pupil, parents/carers and other agencies. This evidence may be required if legal proceedings 
are in place

 Archive registers for three years and make them accessible to LA Officers when required
 Schools across the LA  share good practice and work together to ensure children have access 

to fulltime education
 Free schools/Academies can purchase support from the LA 

Pupils who are persistent absentees in Primary School are 
likely to be Persistent Absentees at Secondary School.

How the Local Authority will promote attendance and fulfil statutory duties

 The local authority receives national data sets as part of the Statistical First Release (SFR) in 
order to measure the success of Doncaster, whilst being in a position to make comparisons 
with the Yorkshire and Humber region, with statistical neighbours and at national level. 

 The national figures will be the benchmark to make direct comparisons with individual 
schools. This ensures targets are linked to national expectations and raises aspirations as 
part of school improvement across Doncaster. 

 The LA will set realistic but challenging attendance targets for attendance and persistent 
absence. Progress against these targets will enable the LA to demonstrate that the early 
intervention and prevention approach is having a positive impact on the children, young 
people and families that have been supported across all schools.

 The LA will track and monitor attendance as a means of targeting resources in support of 
early intervention and prevention to support schools as they manage attendance at school 
level.

 The LA will offer a traded service of Officers that schools can choose to access as additional 
support and to fulfil statutory processes. This service will be coordinated by a Senior Officer 
as LA Lead for Attendance.

 A team of LA Officers, school staff and partners will form an Attendance Strategy Group to 
deliver this plan, monitor its effectiveness, report to key members of the LA and schools

 Ensure all multi agency safeguarding processes are followed and feedback to schools

Page 71



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          22

 Provide opportunities for school professionals to receive regular updates, share good 
practice and access relevant training

 Develop strategies to promote and celebrate good attendance at schools and for pupils 
attending out of authority provision 

 The strategy will consider any changes to local authority and schools responsibilities around 
part time timetables and exclusions. 

LA Statutory duties

 Where children of compulsory school age are not receiving suitable education, the 
LA has a duty to initiate legal proceedings

 Monitor and challenge school attendance registers and data for all schools who 
access LA support

 To ensure all schools comply with the Registration Regulations, England 2006 and all 
other legislation related to attendance

 To follow and implement the appropriate legislation linked to child employment and 
entertainment.

 To have a rigorous and robust process for Children Missing Education and ensure 
schools are aware of the process and engage with it effectively

 To issue penalty notices for absence following the agreed protocol
 To comply with the legal duty to service School Attendance Orders on parents/carers
 When a parent/carer breaches a School Attendance Order the LA will initiate 

proceedings against them
 Where a child of school age is not receiving suitable education the LA has a duty to 

consider the use of an Education Supervision Order.

Free School Meal Pupils attendance nationally is 93% compared 
to Non Free School Meals Pupils attendance nationally is 95.9%.

Free School Meal Pupils Persistent Absence nationally is 21.6% 
compared to Non Free School Meals Pupils attendance nationally 

is 8.2%.

Admissions, Attendance and Pupil Welfare Service 

Statutory Duties of this team include Children Missing Education and Elective Home Education
 Prepare court papers and attend trials to fulfil the responsibilities of the full casework and 

evidence strong support and challenge 
 Ensure the safeguarding of children not seen in accordance with the 10 day reporting 
 Issue Penalty Notices in line with the locally agreed protocol 

Children  Missing Education

Page 72



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          23

 Children Missing Education (CME) are defined as children of compulsory school age who are 
not on a school roll and who are not receiving a suitable education elsewhere: for example, 
at home, privately, or in alternative provision (Education and Inspections Act 2006)

 Children missing from education are amongst the most vulnerable in our communities.  They 
may be from disadvantaged families, travelling communities, immigrant families, be 
unaccompanied asylum seeking or trafficked children, or be at risk of neglect or abuse and it 
is vital that all practitioners work together to identify and re-engage these children back in 
to appropriate education provision as quickly as possible.  Any child who is identified as not 
being on roll at a school and not receiving any appropriate education MUST be placed on the 
Children Missing Education Register.  This includes children who have applied for a school 
place but not yet admitted to a school and children who have been removed from a school 
register before being placed on another school roll. Doncaster Council has developed and 
implemented a robust, effective and sustainable system for monitoring and preventing 
children being missing from education.  The procedures in place will ensure early 
identification, location and engagement of the children who are missing from education and 
will ensure Doncaster Council meets its statutory duties relating to the provision of 
education and safeguarding the welfare of children missing education (Section 14 (1), S7, 
S437 (1), S19 (1), S19 (4a) of the 1996 Education Act, S175 of 2002 Education Act, Circular 
11/99 Social Inclusion: the Local Education Authority role in pupil support, Children’s Act 
2004;)

 The procedures will help to ensure that all children in 
Doncaster achieve the five core outcomes under the Children’s Act (2004):  Being Healthy; 
Staying Safe; Enjoying and Achieving; Making a Positive Contribution; Achieving Economic 
Well-Being’. It is the responsibility of all professionals who work with children to ensure the 
following procedures are implemented.  

 It is often the case that another agency becomes aware of 
the existence of a child living in the area but not in education before the Local Authority 
becomes aware.  Links are made with all relevant stakeholders in order to raise awareness of 
children missing from education and the procedures to notify the Local Authority.

Children go missing from the education system for various reasons.  For instance, they may:

 Fail to start school at Reception, never entering the 
authority’s system

 Fail to complete transition between Key Stage 1 and 2 or 
Key Stage 2 and 3

 Be excluded from school and further provision is not 
immediately put in place 

 Be withdrawn by parent/carer
 Have parents/carers who chose Elective Home Education, 

but following advice and support the education provided is unsuitable to the child’s age, 
aptitude and ability and any special needs they may have

 Leave Private/Independent Schools
 Seek refuge due to Domestic Abuse
 Become homeless
 Have long-term medical or emotional health problems
 Move to a different Local Authority and no school place is 

identified

Page 73



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          24

 Arrive in the country via asylum, refugee status or as EU 
nationals

 Leave the country

Children not engaged in education provision can be exposed to greater risks including being at risk of 
physical harm or neglect, sexual exploitation, anti-social behaviour and/or criminal activity.  These 
children need to be re-engaged back into education quickly in order to achieve their full potential 
and reduce the risk of harm.

  At the time of writing this report Doncaster have 233 active cases on CME of which 205 are  
pupils who have applied for and are waiting to go on roll at a school. 

Elective Home Education Team – Statutory duties

 Parents who elect to home educate must inform their child’s school, in writing, of their 
intention to do so. On receipt of this letter a school can remove the child from their roll. The 
school should forward the parent’s letter, together with the school’s information form, to 
the Local Authority via the School’s Portal system (LAGAN). The Local Authority Elective 
Home Education team will then contact parent to request further information and to 
arrange a visit if appropriate. If a child is on roll at a Special School then a Review must be 
called as the Local Authority have to agree to the removal from school roll to home educate. 
If the child has never attended a school then parents are under no legal obligation to inform 
the Local Authority that they are home educating.

 A parent who elects to home educate takes on full responsibility for their child’s education 
provision, including any financial costs. They do not have to follow the National Curriculum 
or adhere to ‘school hours’. Parents do not have to accept a visit from the EHE Officer and 
may choose to submit a written report instead.

 Parents are responsible for providing an education that is ‘full time and suitable’. The Local 
Authority has no statutory duty to monitor EHE but has duty to intervene if they believe a 
suitable education is not being provided. In Doncaster the aim is to support parents by 
providing advice and guidance around home education. If, however, following this support it 
appears that suitable provision is not in place steps would be taken to return the child to 
school. A referral is made to the In Year Fair Access Panel for a school place to be allocated. 
A School Attendance Order may be issued if the child does not attend the allocated school. 

 At the time of writing this report the current number on EHE in Doncaster was 380, 
approximately 90 of these are Travellers. The figure is steadily rising. Nationally the number 
on home education is rising with some Authorities reporting that their numbers have tripled 
or quadrupled. In Doncaster (and Nationally) the rising numbers also reflect a change in the 
circumstances for a family choosing to home educate. There has been an increase in SEN 
pupils particularly those on the Autistic Spectrum or those awaiting a diagnosis. That 
number has gone from below 5% of the cohort to above 10% in three years. There has also 
been a rise in the numbers of pupils at risk of exclusion, those with attendance issues at risk 
of prosecution and those with Social Care/Early Help involvement – Doncaster’s most 
vulnerable young people. The EHE team endeavour to visit any new EHE family where 
concerns have been expressed either by school or another agency promptly so that a return 
to school can be actioned, where necessary, with as little interruption to the child’s 
education as possible. The EHE team would also challenge schools where parents indicate 
that they have been ‘encouraged’ to home educate i.e. to avoid prosecution, exclusion. 

 For some families the decision to home educate is both rewarding and successful with their 
children progressing on to lead fulfilling lives. Children from this cohort do go on to take 

Page 74



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          25

GCSEs, enrol at sixth forms, enter University. The EHE Officer aims to support these families 
by providing useful information and signposting to opportunities available in Doncaster. 
Currently the EHE Officer is working with a local school to look at providing a GCSE exam 
centre that can consistently provide opportunities for EHE young people to take a range of 
GCSE exams.

Admissions, Attendance and Pupil Welfare Service – Traded Offer to schools

Since April 2017 schools have an opportunity to purchase support from the Local Authority by 
requesting the level of service they believe they need to support their overall attendance and 
persistent absence.

 Provide bespoke tailored support for the individual school to reduce Overall Absence and 
Persistent Absence

 Analyse data to plan intervention, offer advice and guidance to schools
 Work to tackle Overall Absence and Persistent Absence in partnership with other Doncaster 

agencies and services
 Ensuring that Doncaster residents with siblings and friends in different schools are 

supported and challenged with some consistency across Doncaster
 Support full complex cases with barriers to attendance through quality casework, 

assessments of need, family work, intervention and wider multi agency approaches through 
to legal proceedings when appropriate

 Support the Implementation of a whole school policy and initiatives to tackle attendance
 Undertake regular checks of attendance registers and ensure processes are in place with 

school to ensure a timely and planned approach to non attendance and punctuality
 Support schools to promote and reward good attendance 
 Provide updates in legislation and implementation around attendance
 Support schools to identify and initiate Penalty Notices  unauthorised absences due to 

holidays in term time when it is part of the schools attendance policy
 Liaise and check with other agencies including the Early Help Hub for wider service 

involvement and to avoid isolated working or duplication.
 Issue Penalty Notices in line with the locally agreed protocol
 Provide quality assurance for school attendance registers, coding and data production.
 Work with partners to cascade relevant information to protect the most vulnerable
 Education Welfare Officers work with schools to identify and support children and young 

people who are not attending school regularly. This role involves complex casework and 
implementing initiatives.

 Home visits are made to the family homes and assessments are undertaken as appropriate 
alongside referrals to other agencies and partners for additional support.

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) pupils with an Education 
Health & Care Plan (EHCP) attendance nationally is 92.3% compared to 

pupils without SEND & EHCP attendance 95.8%.

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities (SEND) pupils with an Education 
Health & Care Plan (EHCP) Persistent Absence nationally is 22.6% 

compared to pupils without SEND & EHCP Persistent Absence is up to 3 
times lower at around 7.5%.

Page 75



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          26

Individual schools should have systems that will allow them to create reports to identify if 
they are in line with national data for SEND and other vulnerable groups. It is expected that 
schools can demonstrate how vulnerable groups perform to cohorts within their own school as 
well as national levels.

Irish Traveller attendance nationally is 82.1% and Gypsy Roma 
Traveller pupils is 87.3%.

Irish Traveller persistent absence nationally is 63.2%.

Role & responsibilities of wider partners

The Behaviour and Inclusion Team 

 Ensure statutory functions in respect of Fixed Term and Permanent Exclusions from any 
education setting are adhered to without exception.

 Ensure pupils who are permanently excluded are financially supported to access high quality 
alternative education provision.

 Triage and case manage in collaboration in schools to reduce permanent exclusions and the 
frequency of Fixed Term Exclusions within the Authority by coordinating managed moves, 
provision changes, personalised learning and OOA placements via the Behaviour Panel.

 Management of Alternative provisions- PRU’s, AP providers & cluster Learning Centres to 
ensure they are providing outstanding education provision for young people with specialist 
needs.

 Develop outreach provision that meets the needs of young people and focuses on progress 
towards clear outcomes

 Lead Outstanding Behaviour Programme including multi-agency collaboration
 Add value to current behaviour support practices within schools, academies & PRU’s via 

training and Network opportunities

Doncaster Children’s Services Trust (DCST) (Social Care)

 DCST Children’s Social Care under take assessments of children in collaboration with 
other relevant professionals. 

 The assessment will look at all aspects of the child’s developmental needs, including 
their educational needs.

 Social workers include educational needs and attendance when working with families 
and ensure that good attendance is built into plans as a priority, children not on a roll in 
school identified by Social Care will be referred to Children Missing from Education / 
Admissions and Attendance Pupil Welfare Service. The Attendance, Admissions & Pupil 
Welfare Service will also make referrals to the D.C.S. Trust, supporting Working Together 
2015.

 Securing good school attendance and educational provision is paramount to raising aspirations 
and achievement. Professionals will include attendance statistics in any  early help, stronger 
families, PEP, team around a child, CIN plans and CP Plans. Any named social worker will be 
notified without delay where absence is noted, and the DCST Social Workers will work in 

Page 76



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          27

partnership with named designated safeguarding leads in schools/academies to recognise any 
risks identified with poor attendance, for example CSE.

Communities Area Team 

The aim of the Stronger Families Programme is to improve the way families are supported to 
improve their lives using a whole family approach through a lead practitioner model and building 
resilience; as well as reduce the demand on high cost services by identifying and intervening in 
families earlier.

 Doncaster successfully delivered the first phase of Stronger Families between 2012 and 
2015, supporting over 1000 families and successfully ‘turning around’ (DCLG criteria) 870 
families as agreed with the Government. 

 This has enabled Doncaster to be eligible for the Expanded Programme (AKA Phase 2) which 
is proposed as a 5 year programme (2015 -2020) with the first year guaranteed and the 
subsequent four to be agreed after the General Election May 2015 as part of the Autumn 
Spending Review statement in November. 

 The Expanded Programme is named as such because it does just that, it has widened the 
eligibility criteria for families to be included so that local areas will be able to include the 
families that are of most concern to them, high cost or fit local priority issues. This 
programme is based on 6 family themes which families must have at least two to be eligible. 
These themes are:

1. Parents and children involved in crime or anti-social behaviour. 
2. Children who have not been attending school regularly. 
3. Children who need help. 
4. Adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion and young people at risk of          

worklessness. 
5. Families affected by domestic violence and abuse. 
6. Parents and children with a range of health problems. 

 Stronger Families is not a service that can be referred into, it is a transformational 
programme and hence Stronger Families is everyone’s business. 

 We have there sought to embed the programme into all current services, agencies and 
partners current working rather than creating a separate team / service.

 There is additional support for services/ agencies / partners in terms of the innovation fund 
and posts are also funded by the programme to empower the change required to deliver 
true service transformation and enable services to work holistically across the family in a 
“stronger families ethos” of working

Magistrates

 Legal Services, represented by the lawyer who has conduct of the particular matter, will fulfil 
the legal obligations in relation to the legal process concerning enforcement of school 
attendance and will liaise with the Local Authority Attendance leader to address any issues 
of concern. Key to this process is ensuring accurate and up to date documentations and 
 statements are produced timely and provided to Legal Services for the court process.

Page 77



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          28

 Legal Services  will promote Doncaster’s school attendance enforcement guidance and 
prosecution policy with magistrates and will seek to raise awareness of relevant issues 
through the Court as necessary. This will help to ensure that magistrates have a shared 
understanding of attendance issues and the criteria used when pursuing a prosecution with 
the aim of achieving better outcomes for our young people through evidencing the 
importance of education and the strategies Admissions Attendance and Pupil Welfare 
Service use to try to effect change before a prosecution.

 There is therefore likely to be a reduced likelihood of ineffective outcomes as a result of 
legal action having been taken against the parent of a non-attending child.

Police 

 There are 4 School Police Officers across Doncaster. Part of their work includes supporting 
children and young people to attend school regularly. Depending upon their availability 
Police Officers have attended school attendance panel meetings for individual pupils if they 
are involved with the police.

 Officers will stop pupils who are out in the community during school time to check why they 
are not in school. As follow up they will contact the school to say they have stopped a pupil 
in the community. Police officers reinforce the expectation that pupils should be in school.

 Police Officers have  been known to support school staff to do home visits when pupils are 
not in school. This is on an ad hoc basis due to resource and other duties taking the first 
priority.

Local Authority Safeguarding Team 

 Working together, schools and the wider council staff must understand mandatory reporting 
duties and how to refer concerns to social care and  access Doncaster Safeguarding Children 
Board (DCSB) child protection policy and procedures. Line managers are responsible for 
ensuring their staff can demonstrate their understanding via induction 1:1 meetings and 
Performance Development Reviews (PDR).

 Safeguarding training - all staff must access Safeguarding training at Level 1.
 DSCB has a free online learning module for staff to complete. DSCB/Engage Doncaster 

advertise a range of face to face additional safeguarding courses for example Signs of Safety 
and Early Help. All staff need to be aware of how to access safeguarding training. Other 
types of training linked to Safeguarding include:  Designated Safeguarding Lead Level 3; Anti 
bullying; LGBTQ support and Trans toolkit; Prevent; FGM; CSE; Online safety; Safeguarding 
Health checks in partnership with Partners in Learning (PiL); Governor training and policy 
and procedures. 

 The package provides appropriate training and advice to schools on safeguarding the 
welfare of children and child protection issues. This might include giving advice about 
vulnerable children, risk factors and record keeping for safeguarding. It covers training 
specific to children looked after by the  Local Authority, young carers, children subject to 
child protection plans, and those living with domestic abuse.

 When schools are investigating patterns of absence they should consider Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) indicators, advice is provided by the team (3 minute guide).

 Reporting and ensuring schools implement any lessons learned from local or national serious 
case reviews where attendance was a factor.

Page 78



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          29

Post 16   

The Education and Skills Act 2008 increased the minimum age at which young people in England can 
leave learning, requiring them to continue in education or training to age 18 or until they achieve a 
full Level 3 qualification, whichever is the sooner.

For Raising the Participation Age, learning is defined as:
 Full-time education, school, college or home education
 Work based learning including Apprenticeship
 Part-time accredited education or training for 280 hours per year (the equivalent of 1 day 

per week) if they are employed, self-employed or volunteering for more than 20 hours per 
week

Virtual School – Looked After Children 

 Doncaster Council is the Corporate Parent to 538 Children Looked After (CLA) of whom 444 
are of compulsory school age and attend schools in and beyond Doncaster. The Virtual 
School is a way of thinking about all these children as if they were pupils of one school with a 
Virtual School Head overseeing all aspects of their education including their attendance.

 Raising the educational attainment of all CLA is both a national and local priority and the 
Virtual School Head has a statutory duty to monitor outcomes for CLA and ensure that all 
staff are working together to promote the educational attainment of CLA by Doncaster 
wherever they are placed.

 (Children’s Act 2004 S52). This includes working with the Admissions Attendance and Pupil 
Welfare Service to ensure that all CLA have good attendance.

Virtual School – Gypsy, Roma, Traveller (GRT) and English as an Additional Language (EAL) 

 The team supports vulnerable minority groups, including Gypsy, Roma and Travellers of Irish 
heritage, in having equitable access and inclusion into education. 

 The Virtual School holds regular monitoring meetings with schools at which attendance is 
discussed for all GRT pupils. Where patterns of poor attendance are identified support and 
challenge takes place. 

 Schools are also recommended to produce an annual report to their Governors which 
includes data showing how the attendance of GRT pupils as a group compares to the rest of 
the school. Key to this process is identifying what actions the school is taking to improve 
attendance for these vulnerable ethnic minority groups.  

 The Virtual School also plan to offer training for the local authorities EWOs as well as school 
attendance officers around strategies to improve GRT attendance, (early in the autumn 
term) engaging parents in the whole process.  

Early Years

Research demonstrates that Children with poor attendance in their Early Years provision have little 
chance of recovering lost learning at the same rate as their peers who have attended regularly.

Page 79



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          30

 The Statutory Framework for the Early Year Foundation Stage (2017) and the Common 
Inspection Framework (2015) expects Early Years practitioners to promote good attendance 
within their settings. 

 The reasons for children to attend regularly at their Early Years setting are to support their 
learning and development, to make sure that children are kept safe, their wellbeing is 
promoted and they do not miss out on their entitlements and opportunities. 

 Good attendance promotes good outcomes for children. In a small minority of cases, good 
attendance practice may also lead to the earlier identification of more serious concerns for a 
child or family and may have a vital part to play in keeping a child or other family members 
safe from harm. 

 The Early Years Inspection Handbook states: ‘Although attendance at the setting is not 
mandatory, providers should be alert to patterns of absence that may indicate wider 
safeguarding concerns,. Inspectors will explore how well providers work with parents to 
promote children’s good attendance, especially the attendance of children for whom the 
provider receives the early years pupil premium’ (Page 41, point 160) 

 The EYFS guidance states that providers 'should have good policies and procedures in 
promoting, supporting, recording and monitoring the attendance of children in the EYFS; this 
includes keeping accurate records of the daily times of arrival and departure for each child. It 
is in the best interests of children and families that all settings are aware of effective 
practice.  Settings are required to keep full registration details for every child, as specified in 
the EYFS (3.76 a daily record of the names of the children being cared for on the premises, 
their hours of attendance and the names of each child's key person;) 

 The Early Years Service advises settings through both direct intervention, guidance and 
training of the following;

 Doncaster schools should operate similar procedures in their maintained Nursery and 
Reception classes as they do in compulsory mainstream to promote good attendance 

 Through the Doncaster Early Years Entitlement Funding agreement and the Doncaster Early 
Years Safeguarding Audit that has been implemented across settings, there is an expectation 
that Private, Voluntary and Independent Settings will follow up on absences.

 The guidance in the Directory states that providers should seek to find reasons for any 
absence and the likely date of return and inform the Local Authority as soon as possible if 
the child is not returning to the setting. The Local Authority will not reclaim funding for a 
child who is temporarily absent during their free entitlement hours. 

 Safeguarding training courses advise that if a setting has safeguarding concerns about a child 
and this child subsequently leaves the setting or a child has extended or an irregular pattern 
of attendance, this information is passed on to Social Care as quickly as possible, and also 
that, Early Years providers should have a protocol and operate a first day absence telephone 
call to the parent/carer. If there is a pattern of attendance or non-attendance a home visit is 
made.

 Before a child starts school a transition document is completed by any registered setting 
within Doncaster and given to the receiving school so as the receiving school have 
knowledge of their attendance whilst at nursery.

Elected members

 Provide scrutiny of attendance, the initiatives and the breakdown of data across Doncaster. 
Support celebration events and media coverage. 

 Consider central resources and wider partnership working.
 Link with council wide attendance management and strategy for council staff
 Identify a member as the Attendance Champion.

Page 80



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          31

Parents and Carers
 Parents have a responsibility to ensure their child has regular attendance to school.  
 They have legal responsibilities to ensure regular attendance at nursery and in schools and 

academies. 
 Parents are expected to respond to concerns about attendance working in partnership with 

schools, Admissions Attendance and Pupil Welfare Service and other relevant support 
services

Governing Bodies
 As part of the overall Leadership and Management of a school or Academy, the governing 

body must reassure itself that the school keeps admission and attendance registers in 
accordance with the regulations. By identifying a Governor with responsibility for 
Attendance to work with the designated senior Leader for Attendance there will be a better 
understanding of the attendance practice of the school.

 The Governing body should also ensure that the school has an attendance policy and 
practice which reflects Doncaster Council’s School Attendance Strategy, receive termly 
information in relation to Overall Attendance and Persistent Absence and ask the Head 
teacher/Principal to account for a decline in absence or poor rates of progress or celebrate 
share and promote the good practice throughout the school.

School partnerships 
 Work together to develop common policy and practice across all schools in Doncaster 

Council. 
 Offer peer support and scrutiny on improving attendance. Consider, where appropriate, the 

pooling of resources to support school attendance. 
 Seek representation for pupils with attendance difficulties through links with the Health and 

Well Being Board and Doncaster Children’s Safeguarding Board

Systems Support Team 
 Provide relevant, accurate and up to date information and data to enable practitioners to 

monitor and manage attendance of pupils within Doncaster schools and academies. 
 Assist services in developing appropriate strategies for increasing attendance, and 

understanding the reasons for absence by assisting relevant professionals in the 
interpretation of data / information

Youth Offending Service

 Pre-sentence reports include information for the court about how a young person is doing at 
school including their attendance and behaviour to help inform sentencing.

 Post sentencing young people on a Youth Conditional Caution or court order are allocated a 
Case Manager who completes an AssetPlus assessment which includes how they are 
engaging with school. If there are problems that require support then a referral is made to 
the YOS Education Co-Ordinator. Support can include transporting young people to school to 

Page 81



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          32

improve their attendance, working with the young person and their family to encourage 
good attendance (e.g. visual timetables where appropriate) and behaviour and attending 
school meetings. EPIC early intervention crime prevention clients may also be referred for a 
short piece of education work if required.

 We work to a target of 90% of young people engaged in ETE at the end of their order.
 The YOS Education Co-Ordinator attends and produces reports for DMBC Secondary 

Inclusion Panel, a multi-agency approach to improving behaviour and attendance. Checks 
are done for IYFAP Panel and the Panel is attended if any clients are discussed.

 The YOS Education Co-Ordinator works collaboratively with the Virtual School, Education 
Welfare Officers (including CME) and school Attendance Officers as required (attend 
attendance meetings, home visits, school visits, etc.) to improve attendance of clients.

 During a young person’s order they will have regular appointments with their Case Manager 
who will encourage good school attendance and behaviour. This will also happen at order 
reviews.

  If a young person receives an Intensive Surveillance and Supervision requirement with their 
order then 15 hours of education becomes an enforced part of their order with breach of 
order possible for missed education attendance.

Health

 Clinical Commissioning Group (CMG), Medical Officers, General Practitioners, School Nurses, 
Child and Adult Mental Health Service (CAMHS)

 Health practitioners are encouraged to support improvements to attendance by offering, 
when possible, appointments for pupils of compulsory school age out of school hours.

 Health practitioners should aim to address inappropriate condoned parental absence for 
medical reasons and consider the ability of the pupils to access appointments for specialised 
services (e.g.) CAMHS and work with schools/academies and locality teams to address these 
matters

 Health practitioners attend any support meetings where health was identified as the main 
reason for poor school attendance and work with the child, family and other professionals to 
ensure physical health needs were being met and any appointments accessed. Should a 
parent persistently fail to take a child to an appointment, then  this could be seen as Neglect 
and the appropriate action would be taken in relation to safeguarding the child.

 The School nursing team offer an e clinic appointment system where young people can have 
an ‘on line’ chat with the team. We have Faceboook and Twitter and the School nursing app 
where young people can access our team for support and advice.

 Every secondary school has a Health & Well-Being clinic every 2 weeks where young people 
can access the team face to face

 We have a Single Point of Contact (SPOC) where a young person, family member or 
professional can refer in to our service at any time.

Education Standards and Effectiveness Officers 
 Discuss Overall and Persistent Absence rates with Headteachers /Principals and liaise with 

Admissions, Attendance and Pupil Welfare staff regularly. 
 Provide support and challenge in the process of target setting when appropriate
 Share schools’ good practice in relation to attendance
 Support schools to improve through the school of concern process

School of concern:

Page 82



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          33

The Local Authority has a clear legal responsibility to monitor school performance and to intervene 
where necessary.  The Education Standards and Effectiveness team will work gather information 
from a range of sources including StEPS reports, parental concerns and OFSTED inspections. There 
are a variety of potential triggers for a school being classified as a ‘school of concern’.                     
Poor attendance is one of these potential triggers alongside other areas such as attainment, 
progress, exclusions or safeguarding concerns. When a school is identified as a School of Concern the 
L.A. will work with schools and academies in order to diagnose priorities, broker support and ensure 
that there is clear impact. The L.A. will monitor this through a sequence of ‘School of Concern’ 
meetings

Early Help Hub
With parental consent the Early Help Hub uses data to identify vulnerable families which includes 
young people with issues such as Persistent Absenteeism, SEN/D, school exclusions and Anti-Social 
Behaviour. This information is then shared with relevant practitioners who can support the family 
appropriately. The Early Help Hub and Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs include Senior Education 
welfare practitioners.

The Pupil Level School Census

The Pupil Level School Census is a termly electronic return. Information about absence will be 
collected for each pupil who has attended for at least one session during a particular period. The 
periods and dates of returns are:

 Between 1 September - 31 December on 3rd Thursday in January
 Between 1 January - Easter Sunday on 3rd Thursday in May
 Between Easter Monday - 31 May on 3rd Thursday in September

The September census will also collect data for 1 September to 31 May replacing the annual
Absence Return

Page 83



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          34

Next steps actions as follow up from this report:

1. Create an LA Attendance Strategy Team with representatives from different teams within 
the LA to collaborate and disseminate information to their teams and become part of their 
individual team action plans for academic year 2017/18 in to 2018/19. 

2. All schools to receive a letter at the start of autumn term 2017 informing them about the 
Doncaster focus on reducing persistent absence and increasing attendance across all 
schools. All schools with PA above National figures (autumn term 2016 figures) of 13.1% = 
Secondary; 8.2% = Primary; 26.9% = Special schools; all schools = 10.5%; will become target 
schools from September 2017. This should be for Primary and Secondary schools. The letter 
will also explain schools who are above National will fall into the category of School of 
Concern.

3. The School of Concern category for attendance will include challenge, support and building 
capacity of schools to improve attendance and reduce Persistent Absence so it is in line with 
national with the aspiration of being better than national figures. Each school in this 
category will be set a target for attendance and Persistent Absence for the academic year 
2017/18.

4. Training for School Governors regarding Attendance and Persistent Absence. Chair of 
Governors to receive notification of falling into the category of school of concern and what 
they can do to ensure their school improves. Headteachers/Principals performance 
management to reflect this category to show improvement and movement to achieve the 
new target during the academic year. 

5. In line with data, the use of pupil premium funding to promote attendance for 
disadvantaged pupils will be a focus of the input from School Improvement. Also, SEND 
funding will be considered for those pupils who receive additional funding to meet the 
needs of their SEND.

6. A regular termly network and training event will be provided at the beginning of each term. 
This will be aimed at the School Strategic Leader for Attendance and the School Attendance 
Administrator. This will be an opportunity to access training, share good practice and 
develop strategies for schools to implement and report back on in subsequent Network 
meetings. There should be other training events/ support made available for schools to buy 
in as needed.

7. The LA will take the lead on borough wide Attendance initiatives at key points in the year 
where the data shows attendance usually dips. November; March and May are indicated as 
months of the year when there is a dip in attendance. This should complement/inform 
whole school initiatives run during these months. The support from partners to supply prizes 
and incentives for individual pupils with 100% and improved attendance during these 
months are needed. This will need to be marketed and promoted across the borough during 
these times.

Page 84



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          35

8. The Attendance traded service must be regarded as a quality service that schools will want 
to buy in. It must be value for money and targeted at areas that have maximum impact. This 
will need to be developed further based on intelligence from the attendance team and 
schools. Doncaster could allocate some time free with the expectation the school buys in top 
up as a target school.

9. If the LA does not currently have a fast track initiative, to implement it by launching with 
schools and settings to provide guidance of when this will apply. Need to ensure Legal 
Services are kept up to date with this as it will result in a need for increased court time for 
the Fast Track penalty notices to be issued by the magistrates. 

10. The use of Fixed Penalty Notice fines for absence will be routinely issued where pupils are 
not regularly attending and parents/carers are failing to ensure regular attendance to school 
in line with the Education act 444. This will need to be driven by schools who will refer cases 
on to the Attendance Team to carry out legal work and progress cases through this system.

11. Schools should ensure pupils are able to access fulltime education by refraining from using 
part time timetables for extended periods of time.

12. In year admissions should ensure a pupil is allocated a school swiftly and schools must 
ensure they are enrolled onto their admissions roll and register within a specified time frame 
to reduce the amount of time a pupil is without education provision. 

13. An EWO/ LA Officer  should be allocated to a pupil who is awaiting a school place to ensure 
they are safeguarded and quickly placed on a school roll. Maybe not with over 200 cases. 
Currently an administrator maintains records and alerts the CME team if a pupil has not 
taken up an offer of a school place.

14. School Improvement Officers will routinely provide support to schools to train staff to 
analyse data, identify strategies and interventions to improve attendance in the short and 
long term.

15. Schools will be required to review and update their Attendance Policy to ensure it reflects 
practice, meets legal requirements and demonstrates how staff work collectively to promote 
good and improving attendance. This will include whole staff training.

16. An attendance code analysis should be carried out at LA level and schools level to 
understand how the use of relevant coding explains absence data in particular. This can also 
be done at pupil level to explain the types of absence as a means of preventing absence in 
the future. 

17. A focus on the use of ‘B’ and ‘D’ codes to ensure they are correctly applied.

18. A focus on codes for exclusion ‘E’ and the use of ‘C’ code and reasons for use at school level. 
Particularly pupils who receive a reduced timetable for a period of time to avoid exclusion.

19. The use of illness code ‘I’ to identify pupils and areas where high numbers of   absence is 
caused by illness. This may require the support of health professionals to identify pupils with 
ongoing medical needs and the support they need to improve school attendance. This will 
include physical and mental health professionals.

Page 85



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          36

20. The Virtual school team working to support Children in Care to improve their attendance to 
school and challenge schools to provide a full time education for this cohort of children.

21. Staff training via Partners in Learning to promote attendance via subject leader network 
meetings and other training for school professionals.

22. The use of Specialist Leaders in Education (SLE) with expertise in Attendance to support, 
challenge and build capacity with a commitment from schools to release SLEs with this 
expertise to share best practice.

23. At the end of the academic year celebrate success of schools to reduce Persistent Absence 
and increase Attendance.

24. Schools to reinforce how staff should welcome pupils back into school following absence, 
how they catch up with missed work/ lost learning, provided with support to return to 
school after an extended absence, e.g. circle of friends, copies of notes from lessons missed 
and an opportunity for an adult to get them back on track. 

25. Schools to identify key pastoral staff and their capacity to support pupils with poor 
attendance.

26. Schools to carry out ‘pupil voice’ surveys such as ‘The Lifestyle survey’ to identify their views 
on attendance to school.

27. Multi agency approach to support pupils to access education and receive full time education.

28. Investigate how schools support disadvantaged pupils by utilising their pupil premium 
funding to encourage good and improving attendance for this cohort of pupils.

29. A focus on unauthorised absence and what schools are putting into place to reduce this type 
of absence to be in line with national should be implemented from 2017/18.

30. Further investigation of primary schools with high levels of persistent absence needs to be 
carried out to identify which primary schools are partner schools for the schools with the 
highest levels of persistent absence. This would allow a locality action plan to be developed 
to concentrate resources to make improvements.

31. When we consider the Persistent Absence  figures for nationally is 8.2%, regionally 8.9% and 
statistical neighbours is 8.5% a focus on primary schools with excessively high levels of 
persistent absence must be implemented.

32. Conduct an Attendance Deep Dive for schools with exceptionally high levels of PA.

Monitoring and reviewing
Doncaster Council in partnership with its schools and academies owns the attendance strategy and is 
accountable for its delivery. This strategy will be reviewed in July 2019

 Priorities and success criteria

Page 86



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          37

 Attendance to increase across Doncaster schools and close the gap between the 
National Average to be in line or better than National average

 Persistent absence will decrease across Doncaster schools and close the gap 
between National average to be in line or better than National average

 Attainment to increase based on data that links  GCSEs to attendance resulting in 
improved levels of attainment and outcomes for pupils, this includes vulnerable 
pupil groups; disadvantaged learners; SEND; LAC, Young Carers, minority ethnic 
groups

 Reduction in the number of young people Not in Employment Education or 
Employment (NEET)

 Reduction in absence due to holidays in term time
 Reduction in the number of children accessing education provision on a part time or 

reduced timetable
 A reduction in the number of fixed term exclusions that create absence and 

persistent absence
 Reduction in number of children requiring Child in Need (CiN); Child Protection 

Plans; taken into the care of the LA.
 A reduction in the use of absence codes for unauthorised absence
 Attendance/absence codes are correctly utilised to reflect the reason for absence  or 

attendance as part of education provision
 Action plan to be achieved, reviewed and developed in line with key findings.

Page 87



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          38

Appendix 1

From the cabinet report Summer 2017 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the current position regarding 
persistent absenteeism in schools and academies across the borough and ascertain if 
underlying issue of high levels of persistent absence across the authority can be 
attributed to the attendance of any particular vulnerable group of children or young 
people, or rather a generic issue around wider attendance issues linked to school culture, 
aspiration and achievement. 

Proposed Actions/Update

5. The steps actioned illustrated below provide the basis of a broad suite of actions to be 
undertaken to target schools with high persistent absence, and thus monitored and 
challenged under the schools of concern process. 

 In the absence of a substantive Admissions, Attendance and Pupil Welfare Service 
Manager, which has proven hard to appoint to, identify an interim resource to over 
the development of this programme. 

 Establish a secondary Senior Standards and Effectiveness Officer with oversight for 
attendance; to be recruited as part of the recruitment drive to appoint to the 
remaining vacant management posts.  

 Develop a borough wide strategy and programme for attendance, including the 
adoption by schools identified as causing concern in relation to persistent absence, 
including devising a clear action plan and targeted interventions from traded 
services, standards and effectiveness and attendance services, reinforcing the 
importance of good attendance.

 Use the school of concern process to raise attendance issues with individual schools. 
The school of concern process now includes the schools identified above, all of which 
have persistent absence figures higher than the national average. 

 Aligning with the recommendations identified in the behaviour review, liaise with 
the behaviour service to challenge specific schools with high exclusion rates, 
mitigating, where possible an adverse negative impact on attendance.

Page 88



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          39

 Monitor the effective use of pupil premium to ensure that individual schools with 
high levels of persistent absence target funding appropriately, against a clear action 
plan, the details of which can be assessed through the schools of concern process. 

 Match the schools with the highest levels of absence with appropriate ‘traded 
services’, including the attendance service provision, provided through the 
attendance and pupil welfare service. 

 Proactively work with those schools of concern without ‘traded services’ buy back to 
purchase the service on a bespoke/targeted basis.

 Through education services, including standards and effectiveness and attendance 
and pupil welfare services, provide robust challenge to those schools where 
persistent absenteeism is a significant issue.

 As part of an overall action plan, develop targeted initiatives in specific secondary 
academies to encourage good attendance. This would involve a whole school 
approach to developing resilience, self- esteem and aspiration where students can 
develop an understanding of the importance of attending school in terms of future 
prospects and life chances.

OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION

6. The following options have been considered when reviewing persistent absence issues 
across schools in Doncaster.

 Do nothing – this is not an option as raising persistent absence figures 
significantly impacts upon the achievement of children and young people, their 
life chances and potentially surrounding communities

 Develop a targeted and focussed borough strategy and action plan to identify an 
action plan as part of the schools causing concern process and support schools 
with significantly high figures of persistent absence. 

Page 89



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          40

Appendix 2
Legislation Statutory Intervention – Attendance Legal proceedings
The Admissions Attendance and Pupil Welfare Service carries out the Local Authority’s legal function 
to enforce school attendance from the Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006 
and The Education (Pupil Registration) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2010.

The available measures are:
 Prosecution of parents under sections 444 (1) / 444 1 (A) of the Education Act 1996
 Section 444 (1) Education Act 1996 states ‘if a child of compulsory school age who is 

a registered pupil at a school fails to attend regularly, his / her parent is guilty of an 
offence’. This offence is one of ’strict liability’, a legal term that means that the 
offence is committed whether the parent knew the child was absent or not. It is not 
a defence to say that the parents have tried everything in their power to get the 
child to school. The parent's efforts could be raised in mitigation if they were found 
guilty but would not amount to an outright defence. Defences against Section 444 
are specific and set out in that section of the Act. The penalty for the offence is a fine 
of up to £1,000 for each parent with the option of a conditional or absolute 
discharge. One of the available defences, absence due to an ’unavoidable cause’, 
only relates to a cause connected with the child.

 Section 444 (1)(A) Education Act 1996 as inserted by S72 Criminal Justice and Courts 
Act 2000, includes that both parents can be prosecuted for an aggravated offence 
when the child fails to attend school with the parent's knowledge but the parent fails 
without reasonable excuse to cause the child to attend. This offence carries a 
maximum fine of £2,500 and/or 3 months imprisonment.

 The aggravated offence was introduced after the consultative exercise ‘Tackling 
Truancy Together’. If parents facing the aggravated offence fail to turn up at court it 
is likely that a warrant for their arrest would be issued.

 The possible outcomes following a conviction for the lesser offence are a fine, an 
Education Supervision Order, Community Order, a Parenting Order, a Conditional 
Discharge or an Absolute Discharge. For the aggravated offence all the above are an 
option, however a custodial sentence is possible.

PACE Cautions -Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984.
 The Code of Practice attached to the act sets out the conduct that persons who are 

charged with the duty of investigating offences or charging offenders’ should 
observe when carrying out their duties, in particular the conduct of interviews and 
recording of statements under caution.

 School Attendance Orders S437-443 Education Act 1996 
School Attendance Orders (SAOs) are used when a child of compulsory school age is 
not registered at a school and not receiving suitable education and where the Local 

Page 90



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          41

Authority believes that the child should attend school will be served in writing to the 
parents requiring them to satisfy the Local Authority within a period specified. They 
are not to be used for children who are on the roll of a school. Failure to comply with 
an SAO will lead to a prosecution under section 443 and is a criminal offence carrying 
a maximum fine of £1,000 per parent.

 Parenting contract (Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003) is a voluntary agreement / 
contract between school and the parent; sometimes the child and any other 
agencies offering support to resolve any difficulties leading to improved attendance. 
The contract can be used as evidence in a prosecution should parents fail to carry 
out agreed actions.

 Penalty Notices (inserted into the Education Act 1996 by section 23 Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003; and Section 105 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006) will 
be considered when holidays are taken in school time, impacting on a pupils 
attainment following warning, the Penalty Notice will be issued and needs to be paid 
within a maximum of 28 days, failure to do may result in prosecution for the non-
attendance.

Education Supervision Order (ESO):
 The Local Authority may apply for an ESO, when appropriate, rather than a 

prosecution against parents for poor attendance. Before initiating a prosecution 
under section 444(1) or (1)(A) of the 1996 Education Act, or after failing to comply 
with a SAO a Pupil Welfare Officer will consider whether it is appropriate to apply for 
an ESO under Section 36 of the 1989 Children Act to the Family Court. The ESO is 
usually granted for a period of up to 12 months at a time.

 The purpose of an ESO is to place a young person who is not being properly 
educated under the supervision of the Local Authority as opposed to the parent 
having full responsibility for the choices regarding the child’s education therefore 
enabling the Local Authority more control in educating a child of compulsory school 
age.

 ESOs are 1989 Children Act Orders and as such the welfare of the child is paramount. 
Parents must obey the reasonable directions given under an ESO and persistent 
failure to comply is a criminal offence in the Magistrates Court under Section 444(1) 
of the 1996 Education Act.

Parenting Orders
 Magistrates may impose a Parenting Order under S8 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 if 

they feel this is suitable and could help prevent further pupil absence. The Order will 
require parents to attend counselling or guidance sessions for up to three months. It 
may specify other requirements, for example, ensuring the child is escorted to and 
from school for up to 12 months. Non-compliance with a Parenting Order can result 
in a further prosecution by the Police and carries a fine of £1,000 if convicted.

Penalty Notices for parents of Truants
 Subsection (1) of section 23 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 introduces Penalty 

Notices as an alternative to prosecution.
 The penalty is £120 but is reduced to £60 if paid within 21 days of receipt of notice.

Page 91



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          42

 If the Penalty Notice is not paid within 28 days the matter may proceed to court for 
prosecution under Section 444 (1) of the 1996 Education Act 17

 If the attendance of a child improves but the Penalty Notice remains unpaid then the 
parent may still be prosecuted

Appendix 3

The local procedures on DSCB website refer to procedures for challenging attendance - see

http://doncasterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_ch_missing_educ.html?zoom_highlight=atte
ndance

Definition and Overview

The statutory guidance Children Missing Education (September 2016) sets out the key principles to 
enable local authorities in England to implement their legal duty under section 436A of the 
Education Act 1996 to make arrangements to identify, as far as it is possible to do so, children 
missing education (CME). Local authorities should be able to demonstrate that they have considered 
this statutory guidance and, where it is not followed, the local authority should have reasonable 
grounds for not doing so.

All children, regardless of their circumstances, are entitled to an efficient, full time education which 
is suitable to their age, ability, aptitude and any special educational needs they may have;

Children missing education are children of compulsory school age who are not registered pupils at a 
school and are not receiving suitable education otherwise than at a school. Children missing 
education are at significant risk of underachieving, being victims of harm, exploitation or 
radicalisation, and becoming NEET (not in education, employment or training) later in life;

Effective information sharing between parents, schools and local authorities is critical to ensuring 
that all children of compulsory school age are safe and receiving suitable education. Local authorities 
should focus their resources effectively in intervening early in the lives of vulnerable children to help 
prevent poor outcomes.

Statutory guidance for local authorities: Children missing education (September 2016).

Risks

Each year children living in Doncaster will either fail to start in a new school or appropriate 
education provision, become lost from school rolls or fail to re-register at a new school when they 
move home.

These 'missing' children can be vulnerable, and it is essential that all services work together to 
identify and re-engage these children back into appropriate education provision as quickly as 

Page 92

http://doncasterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_ch_missing_educ.html?zoom_highlight=attendance
http://doncasterscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_ch_missing_educ.html?zoom_highlight=attendance


Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          43

possible. It is important to establish the reasons for the child being missing at the earliest possible 
stage.

Possible reasons that should be considered include:

 Failure to start appropriate provision and never enter the system;
 Stopped attending, due to illegal exclusion or withdrawal by parent/carers;
 Failure to complete a transition between schools;
 Children from refugee and asylum seeking families;
 Children from families who are highly mobile;
 Children at risk of a forced marriage;
 Children experiencing abuse and neglect.
 Children who remain disengaged from education are potentially exposed to higher degrees 

of risk.

Children who go missing or run away from home or care may be in serious danger and are 
vulnerable to crime, sexual exploitation or abduction as well as missing education.

When families move between local authority areas it can sometimes lead to a child becoming ‘lost’ 
in the system and consequently missing education. Where a child has moved, local authorities 
should check with other local authorities – either regionally or nationally – and share information in 
order to ascertain where a child has moved. Once the location of the child is established, the 
relevant local authority must ensure that the child is receiving an education either by attending a 
school or the provision of electronic or distance learning packages where these are available.

Research has shown that many children from Gypsy, Roma and Traveller (GRT) families can become 
disengaged from education, particularly during the secondary school phase. It is therefore important 
that schools inform the local authority when a GRT pupil leaves the school without identifying a new 
destination school, particularly in the transition from primary to secondary so that they can attempt 
to facilitate continuity of the child’s education. Although many are settled, some GRT families move 
regularly and their children can be at increased risk of missing education. Local authority Traveller 
Education Support Services (TESS), where these exist, or the named CME officer within the local 
authority, can advise schools on the best strategies for ensuring the minimum disruption to GRT 
pupils’ education.

Families of members of the Armed Forces are likely to move frequently – both in the UK and 
overseas and often at short notice. Schools and local authorities should contact the MoD Children’s 
Education Advisory Service (CEAS) for advice on making arrangements to ensure continuity of 
education for those children when the family moves.

Page 93



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          44

Children who have offended or are at risk of doing so are also at risk of disengaging from education. 
Local authority Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are responsible for supervising those young people 
(aged 8 to 18). YOTs should work with the local authority CME officer to ensure that children are 
receiving, or return to, appropriate full-time education.

Indicators

Schools

As a result of daily admissions registration, schools are particularly well placed to notice when a child 
has gone missing. If a member of school/educational establishment/college staff becomes aware 
that a child may have run away or gone missing, they should try to establish with the parents/ 
carers, what has happened. If this is not possible, or the child is missing, the designated safeguarding 
teacher/advisor should, together with the class teacher, assess the child's vulnerability by making 
reasonable enquiries, and refer (see also Referrals Procedure) any concerns about the child to 
Children’s Services.

Schools should monitor attendance closely and address poor or irregular attendance. It is important 
that pupils’ poor attendance is referred to the local authority.

In the more general circumstances of a child going missing who is not known to any other agencies, 
the Head Teacher should inform the Pupil Tracking Officer and Education Welfare Officer of any child 
who has not attended for 10 consecutive schools days without provision of reasonable explanation.

Maintained schools have a safeguarding duty in respect of their pupils, and as part of this should 
investigate any unexplained absences. Academies and independent schools have a similar 
safeguarding duty for their pupils. Further information about schools’ safeguarding responsibilities 
can be found in ‘Keeping Children Safe in Education’ September 2016 statutory guidance.

All schools are required to notify the local authority within five days when a pupil’s name is added to 
the admission register at a non-standard transition point. Schools will need to provide the local 
authority with all the information held within the admission register about the pupil.

Schools must notify the local authority when a pupil’s name is to be removed from the admission 
register at a non-standard transition point under any of the fifteen grounds set out in the 
regulations, as soon as the ground for removal is met and no later than the time at which the pupil’s 
name is removed from the register.

In line with the duty under section 10 of the Children Act 2004, the expectation is that the school 
and the local authority will have in place procedures designed to carry out reasonable enquiries. The 
type of procedures may include the appropriate person checking with relatives, neighbours, 
landlords – private or social housing providers – and other local stakeholders who are involved. They 
should also record that they have completed these procedures. If there is reason to believe a child is 
in immediate danger or at risk of harm, a referral (see Referrals Procedure) should be made to 
children’s social care (and the police if appropriate).

Page 94



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          45

Other Agencies

Where any agency in contact with children and families believes that a child is not on the roll of a 
school or receiving education otherwise, then this information should be passed to the Pupil 
Tracking Officer with any details they have of the child in question. If they have concerns about the 
welfare of the child they should refer to Children’s Services.

Pupil Tracking Officer

The Pupil Tracking Officer (or CME Officer) should ensure through the Education Welfare Officer that 
reasonable enquiries are made - e.g. home visits, liaison with the Children’s Services Trust and/or 
Housing - and notify the school if it appears that the child has moved out of the area.

If no information is forthcoming within 2 days, the Pupil Tracking Officer should alert her/his 
manager, who should inform the Children’s Services Trust and the Police in writing.

Protection and Action to be Taken

Head teachers should inform the Pupil Tracking Officer and the child’s social worker immediately a 
child subject to a Child Protection Plan is missing.

In the following circumstances a referral to Doncaster Children’s Services Trust and /or the Police 
should always be made promptly:

 The child may be the victim of a crime;
 The child is subject of a Child Protection Plan;
 The child is subject of Section 47 enquiries;
 The child is Looked After;
 There is a known person posing a risk to children in the household or in contact with the 

household;
 There is a history of the family moving frequently;
 There are serious issues of attendance.

Where a child on a school roll is missing, the child’s name may not be removed from the school roll 
until s/he has been continuously absent for at least 4 weeks and both the school and the education 
service have failed, after reasonable enquiry, to locate the pupil and her/his family. After 4 weeks 
the child’s Common Transfer file should be uploaded to the Department for Education secure site for 
the transfer of pupil information when a pupil moves between schools. The CME Officer in the Local 
Authority must also be informed.

In these circumstances the child’s name is kept on a centrally held register, and should be clearly 
identified as missing from education. 

Where the child’s name has been removed from the school roll, but s/he has not been located, the 
Head Teacher should arrange for the pupil’s records to be retained until the child is located. They 
may be held centrally according to local arrangements.

Page 95



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          46

Where a Head Teacher has been notified by a parent that a pupil is receiving education other than at 
school, and has removed the child’s name from the school roll, notification must be given to the 
education service within 10 school days; the pupil’s records should then be transferred to the 
education service to be stored in accordance with local arrangements.

If a school receives a new pupil without receiving information about the pupil from his or her 
previous school, the school should contact the Pupil Tracking Officer.

If the Pupil Tracking Officer becomes aware the child has moved to another school s/he should 
ensure all relevant agencies are informed and arrangements made to forward records from the 
previous school.

Issues

A child missing from education is not in itself a child protection matter, and there may be an 
innocent explanation for this. However, regular school attendance is an important safeguard and 
unexplained non-attendance can be an early indicator of problems, risk and vulnerability.

Schools should endeavour to deal with this problem in three ways:

 By preventing poor school attendance and truancy;
 By acting once absence has occurred to establish children’s safety and try to get them back 

to school;
 By taking action to trace children whose whereabouts are not known.

Further Information

This guidance should be read in the context of the statutory duties upon local authorities and 
parents as set out in the following:

 The Education Act 1996 section 436A;
 The Education Act 2002;
 The Children Act 1989;
 The Children Act 2004;
 Statutory guidance for local authorities: Children missing education (September 2016);
 Elective Home Education Guidelines;
 School Admissions Code;
 School to school service: how to transfer information;
 The Education (Pupil Registration)(England) Regulations 2006, as amended (Education law 

regarding pupil registration where a child is on a school roll); The Education (Pupil 
Registration) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2013; as amended The Education (Pupil 
Registration) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2016. In particular the guidance provides 
for professionals seeking to exercise their duty under the following Acts to ensure that their 
functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children.

 Section 175 of the Education Act 2002;
 And Section 11 of the Children Act 2004. Additionally, this guidance seeks to ensure that the 

duty to co-operate to improve the well-being of children under section 10 of the Children 
Act 2004[32] is discharged. All schools will have a designated teacher for looked after 

Page 96



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          47

children. These teachers are ideally placed to assist when identifying those looked after 
children currently in school who may be at greater risk of going missing from education.

Attendance and P.A. strategy- Objectives, actions and initial timeframe for set up:

Objective and actions Timeframe for set up

To develop collective responsibility for 
driving improvements in attendance. 
  

 Create an LA Attendance Strategy Team with 
representatives from different teams within the 
LA to collaborate and disseminate information to 
their teams and become part of their individual 
team action plans for academic year 2017/18 in to 
2018/19.   AAPW to clarify and communicate high 
expectations for officers, schools, governors and 
parents. This includes holidays, language around 
expectations, evidence based decisions.

 The LA will take the lead on borough wide 
Attendance initiatives at key points in the year 
where the data shows attendance usually dips.

September 2017
 MO to approach 4 officers with strategic roles around 

attendance in order to convene a group for 9/17. 
Identify common strands of strategy for their areas.

 MO Set out timeline of activity.

 Consider high profile launch of Doncaster Attendance 
strategy with elected members , senior and middle 
leaders etc. 9/17

 Investigate partners for the delivery of an LA led 
Attendance campaign at key times in the academic year 
based on best practice and data led.

October/November 2017

 Consider high profile launch of Doncaster Attendance 
strategy with elected members , senior and middle 
leaders 

 Publication of expectations and strategies to support 
initiatives to all professionals involved.

 Clear messages are communicated to all key teams 
within council including elected members, social care 
colleagues, LOCYP managers, behaviour, school 
effectiveness etc.

 November- ‘second wave’ of strategy launch after HT in 
media, schools and council with info re ‘fast track’, clear 
message on holidays etc.

To deliver greater accountability for 
Doncaster schools around absence and P.A.

 All schools to receive a letter at the start of 
autumn term 2017 informing them about the 
Doncaster focus on reducing persistent absence 
and increasing attendance across all schools. All 
schools with PA above National figures (with 
some regard to proportionality) become ‘focus 
schools’. 

 The Focus school category for attendance will 
include challenge, support and building capacity 

September 2017
 LG/MO Profile and risk assess all schools against 3 year 

trend in data with S&E colleagues
 LG/MO to speak to PR/ LH. Both to speak at ‘School 

briefing’ about this strategy 9/17.
 Letter to schools should alert them to becoming an 

attendance focus school and how the LA intends to 
support them. Include an invitation to a meeting of 
schools in this category to launch the programme with 
schools in this category.

 MO/LG/SP All focus schools have termly visit from 
MO/SP/LG so that provision is evaluated and action 
plans are drawn up and reviewed. A timeline for ‘deep 
dives’ is published.

Page 97



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          48

of schools to improve attendance and reduce 
Persistent Absence so it is in line with national.

 Training for School Governors regarding 
Attendance and Persistent Absence. Chair of 
Governors to receive notification of falling into 
the category of school of concern and what they 
can do to ensure their school improves. Training 
available for governors with attendance role.

 Schools will be required to review and update 
their Attendance Policy to ensure it reflects 
practice, meets legal requirements and 
demonstrates how staff work collectively to 
promote good and improving attendance.

 Support and capacity building provided to schools by 
officers with a track record of improving attendance and 
reducing PA to ensure credible support to schools as 
part of launch.

 The L.A. strategy for pupil premium will link explicitly to 
on-going work on auditing and improving attendance 
policy and practice in schools.

 Develop a training slide set to be used with a range of 
audiences regarding attendance and PA

 Agree an LA Target for attendance and PA for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 moving towards national averages and 
then to be better than national averages.

October/November 2017

 All attendance focus schools to have a clear support 
plan led by the LA that is developed with the school and 
regularly RAG rated half termly. LA to use the support 
plans to identify the type of support schools need 
collectively and provide training/share practice. Support 
plan to be available for school governors as part of 
monitoring process.

 Arrange a training session with SESOs to explain the 
attendance strategy and how they can challenge school 
leaders with regard to attendance. Also signpost where 
schools can obtain support.

 Governor training session to be developed with key 
messages regarding attendance and advice/guidance for 
Governors to challenge school leaders, encourage  GB to 
set a performance target for the schools leadership that 
includes attendance/PA target to be achieved during 
2017/18

 Info pack and model policy sent to schools 10/17
 Session at Attendance network  11/17
 Offer a critical friend approach to current school policies 

for attendance, Officers with expertise in developing 
and reviewing policies that reflect school practice to 
provide this service. This can be follow up from the SESO 
meetings.

 School briefing meetings will include exchange between 
SESO and AAPW over attendance targets and strategies/ 
pupil premium action planning.

To ensure that school improvement services 
have a clearly defined role in improving 
attendance.

 A regular termly network and training event will 
be provided at the beginning of each term. This 
will be aimed at the School Strategic Leader for 
Attendance and the School Attendance 
Administrator.

 School improvement officers conduct termly 
discussion with schools regarding PP attendance 
when reviewing PP outcomes and plans.

 Offer a programme of staff training on managing 
attendance through PIL.

 Introduce termly attendance networks

September 2017
 MO to meet with PIL to discuss brokering, training and 

SI package. 9/17
 LG/MO to meet PR re use of attendance data in SI 

meetings. 9/17.
 LG/MO to produce pack of info to guide conversations. 

9/17

October/November 2017

 Training for school leaders on data analysis and 
targeting pupils/pupils groups for intervention through 
Behaviour and attendance network.

 Termly network meetings to spotlight good practice in 
schools so others can implement interventions and 
campaigns in their own schools. Create a learning 
community that is mutually supportive

Ensure that the attendance service is having 
a clear impact upon schools

September 2017
 MO/SP to undertake evaluation of EW team- looking at 

KPIs and consistency of work. 9/17
 MO/ SP Action planning with EW team regarding whole 

Page 98



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          49

 Quality assure the strands of work undertaken by 
the attendance team.

 Refocus resources in order to maximise impact- 
including allocation of additional resources to 
areas of need.

 Consider using ‘fast track’ initiative if officers and 
members are convinced that this will work locally.

 Consistent use of FPN.
 An attendance code analysis should be carried out 

at LA level and schools level to understand how 
the use of relevant coding explains absence data 
in particular

 Base SLA for AAPW on a clear analysis of need and 
likely impact.

attendance strategy. 9/17
 If Fast Track is implemented work with Legal Services/ 

Magistrates to ensure additional time is allocated for 
the Fast Track cases.

 MO/ SP Identify and clarify operational and S.I. roles in 
supporting schools to review and improve attendance. 
9/17

 MO/SP 09/17 to study evaluations of FT strategies and 
report to A.D.s on its impact

 Single attendance target setting process for all schools 
agreed by L.A.

October/November 2017

 Launch Fast Track system with schools to ensure they 
fully understand which cases are suitable for this 
process. Provide examples of case studies/scenarios to 
help them to identify how best to utilise this system.

 SP/MO Use of extra time to implement FT and system 
reviews of attendance. EWO and AAPW team managers 
support strategy timeline in schools.

 Code analysis at LA and individual school level to be 
shared with key stakeholders and inform next steps

 All schools set targets for absence and P.A. Based on 
how to achieve the LA targets for attendance and PA set 
for 2017/18 and 2018/19.

Minimise the impact of weaker behaviour 
practice upon attendance

 Behaviour strategy includes attendance and 
school improvement representatives.

 Minimise the use of part-time timetables across 
the authorities.

September 2017
 Ensure that behaviour team members sit on Attendance 

strategy group and vice versa. 9/17
 Work with behaviour colleagues to profile extent and 

impact of this  practice 9/17
 MO/LG to be part of the task and finish group of the 

Behaviour Review to establish guidance and best 
practice for reduced timetables.

October/November 2017

 A focus on reduced timetable practice across schools to 
be highlighted across stakeholder groups including 
Governors to challenge schools who regularly use this as 
an intervention. As part of the focus on attendance 
schools should be transparent about the number so of 
pupils on reduced timetables. Ensure that any pupil on a 
reduced timetable is monitored and reviewed regularly. 
Guidance and best practice to be school Improvement 
Teams to have this item as a regular agenda item for 
their visits. 11/17

 Share AP with schools for reducing and monitoring PT 
timetables. 11/17

Ensure that admissions functions rapidly in 
order to minimise time out of school.

 Ensure that in-year admissions are all processed 
rapidly so that children lose as little time as 
possible.

 Ensure that IYFAP and inclusion panels are 
screened, minuted and policed so that practice is 
transparent and based upon a collective will to 
achieve the best outcomes for Doncaster 

September 2017
 MO/SP Analysis of current data on IFAP.
 MO to meet with heads in order to gather views 

regarding improvements to IYFAP processes and build 
consensus for fortifying partnerships around mobility.

 Clear strategy for ensuring cohesion, parity and equality 
across all L.A. panels 9/11

 MO/LG to be part of the New panels  task group 
identified in the Behaviour Review

Page 99



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          50

children. October/November 2017

 Conduct an in depth analysis and review of reasons why 
pupils are presented at IFAP, how long it takes from 
being identified as requiring a school place and the time 
frame before they are accessing full time education. 

 New IYFAP procedures in place.

Appendix 5 – Letter to Focus schools –September 2017

Dear (Name of Headteacher/Principal)

Doncaster Council Attendance Strategy 2017/18

A new Local Authority strategy focused on school attendance is being launched this 
academic year following an LA review of school attendance and persistent absence.
In the Doncaster Children and Young People’s Plan 2017-2020 school attendance 
and persistent absence were highlighted as areas where significant improvement is 
required. This not just a priority for the local authority, but for all partners, as 
reflected in the problem diagnosis for the Social Mobility Opportunity Area, which 
again highlighted persistent absence as a key challenge that Doncaster faces. We 
believe that the local authority has a key role to play in supporting schools to improve 
attendance and reduce persistent absence so that outcomes for children in all school 
can improve further.

From the data held by the Local Authority and compared with national data, 
Doncaster is one of the lowest ranked Local Authorities in the country for attendance 
and persistent absence. National figures show the Doncaster average for attendance 
in primary schools is 95.6% compared to National of 96%. In Secondary schools the 
data shows national averages at 94.8% and Doncaster schools 93.6%.  When 
focusing on persistent absence Primary schools national average is 8.2% compared 
to Doncaster at 10.5% Secondary persistent absence national 13.1% compared to 
Doncaster at 16.3%. Ofsted compare schools to national averages as regards 
attendance and persistent absence data. The aim is to bring Doncaster schools in 
line with national data in the first instance, moving towards being better than national 
average in the future.

Page 100



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          51

As part of the Attendance Strategy, schools with lower attendance and higher 
persistent absence than national will become a focus for support from the local 
authority. From centrally held data (name of school) will be a focus school 2017/18.

LA Officers plan to visit identified schools in the autumn term 2017 in order to agree 
how we can support you to make improvements. There will be a series of network 
meetings for school Attendance Leaders and their Attendance Administrator this 
academic year. Individual schools can be supported by Attendance Specialists with a 
track record of improving attendance at school and Local Authority Level. Governors 
will be provided with training on Attendance and Persistent absence to enable them 
to effectively support and challenge their schools on Attendance.

Impacting on system wide issues requires collective leadership and appropriate 
support programmes. On this basis, an initial meeting will be scheduled at your 
school at a mutually convenient time to discuss how the local authority can support 
your school to improve attendance. A Local Authority Officer will be in contact with 
you over the coming weeks in order to discuss this further.

Old letter.

Dear (Name of Headteacher/Principal)

Doncaster Council Attendance Strategy 2017/18

A new Local Authority strategy focused on school attendance is being launched this academic year 
following a LA review of school attendance and persistent absence.

You will be aware of the strong links between raising pupil attainment and improving progress with 
pupil attendance, based on your own school data. At Local Authority level it has been decided that 
schools need to be supported to improve overall attendance and reduce persistent absence to 
improve outcomes for children and young people in Doncaster.

From the data held centrally and compared with national data, Doncaster is one of the weakest 
Local Authorities for attendance and persistent absence. National figures show the Doncaster 
average for attendance in primary schools is 95.6% compared to National of 96%. In Secondary 
schools the data shows national averages at 94.8% and Doncaster schools 93.6%.  When focusing on 
persistent absence Primary schools national average is 8.2% compared to Doncaster at 10.5% 
Secondary persistent absence national 13.1% compared to Doncaster at 16.3%. Ofsted compare 
schools to national averages as regards attendance and persistent absence data. The aim is to bring 
Doncaster schools in line with national data in the first instance moving towards being better than 
national average in the future.

As part of the Attendance Strategy, schools with lower attendance and higher persistent absence 
than national will become a focus school. From centrally held data (name of school) will be a focus 
school 2017/18.

Page 101



Doncaster Strategy for Attendance & Persistent Absence - Schools 2017/18                                          52

 It is intended that individual schools will be visited by LA Officers in the autumn term 2017 to 
discuss attendance and identify the support needed to improve. There will be a series of network 
meetings for school Attendance Leaders and their Attendance Administrator this academic year. 
Individual schools can be supported by Attendance Specialists with a track record of improving 
attendance at school and Local Authority Level. Governors will be provided with training on 
Attendance and Persistent absence to enable them to effectively support and challenge their schools 
on Attendance.

An initial meeting will be scheduled at your school at a mutually convenient time to discuss the focus 
school for attendance strategy and how the Local Authority can support your school to improve 
attendance. You will be contacted by a Local Authority Officer in September 2017.

Page 102


	Agenda
	6. Doncaster Council Energy Supply Offer - Non-Domestic
	7. Shared Service Agreement with Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council to deliver Environmental Crime Enforcement (Appendix 1 to the report contains exempt information within paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act, 1972, as amended).
	Appendix 1 Rotherham Shared FPN Service- Confidential Appendix 1

	8. Get Doncaster Cycling
	9. Doncaster Attendance Strategy
	app 1 Attendance Strategy and PA report includes Executive summary v2


